# Collective Agreement

# between

# Ontario Public Service Employees Union on behalf of its Local 511 and

**Surrey Place Centre** 

**DURATION:** April 1, 2016 – March 31, 2019

This is a draft version. Where there is discrepancy, the previous Collective Agreement along with the Minutes of Settlement from 2016 shall prevail.



Sector 2C 5-511-340-20190331-2C

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ARTICLE	PAGE #
PREAMBLE	1
DEFINITIONS	
ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION	1
ARTICLE 2 - APPLICABILITY TO PART-TIME EMPLOYEES	1
ARTICLE 3 - NO DISCRIMINATION	
ARTICLE 4 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES	2
ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	2
ARTICLE 6 - POSTING AND FILLING OF VACANCIES OR NEW POSIT	<u> TIONS</u> 3
ARTICLE 7 - PAY ADMINISTRATION	4
ARTICLE 8 - TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS	6
ARTICLE 9 - HOURS OF WORK	
ARTICLE 10 - DAYS OFF	9
ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SCHEDULES	
ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT PREMIUM	
ARTICLE 13 - REST PERIODS	
ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME	
ARTICLE 15 - CALL BACK	11
ARTICLE 16 - ON-CALL DUTY	11
ARTICLE 17 - MEAL ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 18 - HEALTH AND SAFETY AND VIDEO DISPLAY TERMINA	
ARTICLE 19 - HOLIDAYS	
ARTICLE 20 - NON-PYRAMIDING OF PREMIUM PAYMENTS	15
ARTICLE 21 - KILOMETRIC RATES	15
ARTICLE 22 - TIME CREDITS WHILE TRAVELLING	
ARTICLE 23 - JOB SECURITY	
ARTICLE 24 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD AND SENIORITY	21
ARTICLE 25 - CLOSING OF FACILITIES	
ARTICLE 26 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
ARTICLE 27 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
ARTICLE 28 - PREPAID LEAVE PLAN (PLP	
ARTICLE 29 - PERFORMANCE APPRAISALS	38
ARTICLE 30 - INFORMATION TO NEW EMPLOYEES/PRINTING OF A	GREEMENT .38

ARTICLE 31 - EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYER RELATIONS COMMITTEE (EERC)	38
ARTICLE 32 - HEADQUARTERS	39
ARTICLE 33 - RETIREMENT	.40
ARTICLE 34 - REORGANIZATION	.41
ARTICLE 35 - STAFF TRAINING	41
ARTICLE 36 - APPLICATION OF PART B, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS	42
ARTICLE 37 - BASIC LIFE INSURANCE	
ARTICLE 38 - SUPPLEMENTARY AND DEPENDENT LIFE INSURANCE	43
ARTICLE 39 - LONG TERM INCOME PROTECTION (L.T.I.P.)	45
ARTICLE 40 - EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX	46
ARTICLE 41 - SUPPLEMENTARY HEALTH AND HOSPITAL INSURANCE	
ARTICLE 42 - DENTAL PLAN	
ARTICLE 43 - INSURED BENEFITS PLANS - GENERAL	50
ARTICLE 44 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 45 - VACATIONS AND VACATION CREDITS	
ARTICLE 46 - SHORT TERM SICKNESS PLAN	52
ARTICLE 47 - SEVERANCE PAYMENT	54
ARTICLE 48 - WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE COMPENSATION	
ARTICLE 49 - ENTITLEMENT ON DEATH	56
ARTICLE 50 - PERSONNEL FILE	56
ARTICLE 51 - TERM OF AGREEMENT	57
<u>APPENDIX 1</u>	58
APPENDIX 2 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COMMITTEE	72
APPENDIX 3 – TERM EMPLOYEES AND POSITIONS	73
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: SENIORITY/CREDIT ACCUMULATION & USAGE.	77
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: FLEX TIME-RENEW	78
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: PROGRAM CLOSURE	80
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: SHORT TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM	81
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: RETIREMENT BENEFITS	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: TREADD PROGRAM	
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: LUMP SUM PAYMENT	

#### **PREAMBLE**

- 1. The purpose of this Agreement between the Employer and the Union is to establish and maintain:
  - (a) satisfactory working conditions and terms of employment for all employees who are subject to this Agreement;
  - (b) a procedure for the prompt and equitable handling of grievances and disputes.

The parties, therefore, agree as follows:

#### **DEFINITIONS**

Where reference is made to "days" throughout this collective agreement such reference will mean calendar days.

Where reference is made to "working days" throughout this collective agreement such reference will mean calendar days excluding weekends and days designated as holidays in Article 19.

#### PART A - WORKING CONDITIONS

#### **ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

1.1 In accordance with the *Labour Relations Act*, the Employer recognizes the Ontario Public Service Employees Union as the exclusive collective bargaining agent for all employees of the Employer employed in the Province of Ontario, save and except managerial employees, persons employed in a confidential capacity with respect to labour relations, students employed during regular vacation periods or on cooperative educational training programs and persons referred to in Appendix 3 herein.

#### ARTICLE 2 - APPLICABILITY TO PART-TIME EMPLOYEES

2.1 All provisions of this collective agreement are applicable to part-time employees on a pro rata basis unless the contrary is stated. The parties agree that the pro-rating of time periods or monetary provisions shall be calculated by multiplying the time period or monetary amount in question by a fraction, the numerator of which is the part-time employee's regularly-scheduled weekly hours and the denominator of which is the full-time weekly hours of an employee in the same position.

#### **ARTICLE 3 - NO DISCRIMINATION**

- 3.1 It is agreed that there will be no discrimination by either party or by any of the employees covered by this Agreement on the basis of grounds prohibited by s.5 (1) of the Ontario Human Rights Code.
- 3.2 The Employer and the Union agree that there will be no intimidation, discrimination, interference, restraint or coercion exercised or practiced by either party or by any of their representatives or members because of any employee's membership or non-membership in the Union or because of activity or lack of activity in the Union.

#### **ARTICLE 4 - CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES**

- 4.1 There shall be deducted from the regular bi-weekly pay of every employee a sum in lieu of membership dues equivalent to the bi-weekly dues of the Ontario Public Service Employees Union.
- 4.2 The deductions referred to herein shall be remitted to the Ontario Public Service Employees Union, Head Office, to the attention of the Finance Department, as soon as possible following the pay period for which the deduction was made, but not later than the fifteenth (15th) day of the month following. Accompanying this remittance will be a list containing the name of each employee for which dues have been deducted; the salary level upon which the dues calculation was based; the dues remitted on behalf of each employee and the time period for which the remittance is being made. A copy of the list containing the name of each employee for which dues have been deducted shall be provided concurrently to the Local President at Surrey Place Centre on a monthly basis.
- 4.3 The Union must advise the Vice President, Finance and Administration, Surrey Place Centre, in writing of the amount of its regular dues. The amount so advised shall continue to be deducted until changed by a further written notice to the Employer signed by authorized officials of the Union.
- 4.4 The Union agrees to indemnify and save the Employer harmless from any liability arising out of the operation of this Article.

#### **ARTICLE 5 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS**

5.1 Except and to the extent specifically modified by this Agreement, all rights of management are retained by the Employer and remain exclusively and without limitation within the rights of the Employer and its management. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Employer's exclusive rights, power and authority shall include, but shall not be confined to the right to:

- (a) maintain order, discipline and efficiency.
- (b) make and enforce and alter from time to time reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by all employees.
- (c) hire, assign duties, promote, demote, evaluate according to the Joint Job Evaluation System, layoff, recall, discharge, suspend or otherwise discipline employees, provided that a claim that an employee who has completed their probationary period has been discharged or disciplined without just cause or has been dealt with contrary to the provisions of this Agreement may be the subject of a grievance and dealt with as hereinafter provided.
- (d) determine the location and extent of the operations and their designation, commencement, expansion, revision, curtailment or discontinuance; to plan, direct, control and alter all operations; determine in the interest of efficient operation and highest standards of service, the direction of the working forces, the services to be provided and the methods, procedures and equipment to be used in connection therewith; determine the descriptions of the jobs, the hours of work, the work assignments, the methods of doing the work and the working establishment for any service and the standards of performance for all employees.
- (e) determine the qualifications of employees, the number of employees required by the Employer at any one time; introduce new and improved methods, facilities, equipment; control the amount of supervision necessary; to increase or reduce personnel in any particular area.

#### ARTICLE 6 - POSTING AND FILLING OF VACANCIES OR NEW POSITIONS

- 6.1 When a vacancy occurs for a bargaining unit position or a new position is created in the bargaining unit, it shall be advertised for at least ten (10) working days prior to the established closing date. All applications will be acknowledged. Notice of vacancies shall be posted on bulletin boards. A position that becomes vacant or remains vacant within six (6) months of being posted shall not be required to be reposted.
- 6.2 The notice of vacancy shall state, where applicable, the nature and title of position, salary, the qualifications required, hours of work and the area in which the position exists.
- 6.3 In filling a vacancy, the Employer shall give primary consideration to qualifications, relevant experience and ability to perform the required duties. Where qualifications, relevant experience and ability are relatively equal, seniority shall govern.
- 6.4 An applicant who is invited to attend an interview with the employer shall be granted time off with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits to attend the interview.

In matters of promotion and staff transfer, a successful bargaining unit applicant shall be allowed a trial period of up to thirty (30) working days worked during which the Centre will determine if the employee can satisfactorily perform the job. With this period the employee may voluntarily return, or be returned by the Centre, to the position formerly occupied, without loss of seniority. Should the employee return or be returned to her former job, the filling of subsequent vacancies will be reversed.

# **ARTICLE 7 - PAY ADMINISTRATION**

7.1

- 7.1.1 Promotion occurs when the incumbent in a position is assigned to another position with a higher maximum salary than their former position.
- 7.1.2 An employee who is promoted or reclassified shall receive that rate of pay in the salary range of the new grade which is the next higher to their present rate of pay, except that:
  - where such a change results in an increase of less than three per cent (3%), they shall receive the next higher salary rate again, which amount will be considered as a one-step increase;
  - a promotional increase shall not result in the employee's new salary rate exceeding the maximum of the new salary grade.

# 7.1.3 Where an employee:

- (a) at the maximum rate of a salary grade is promoted, a new anniversary date is established based upon the date of promotion;
- (b) at a rate less than the maximum rate of a salary grade is promoted and receives a promotional increase:
  - greater than a one-step increase, a new anniversary date based on the date of promotion is established;
  - of one step or less, the existing anniversary date is retained.

7.2

7.2.1 Where the duties of an employee are changed as a result of reorganization or reassignment of duties and the position is evaluated to a position with a lower maximum salary, an employee who occupies the position when the re-evaluation is made is entitled to salary progression based on merit to the maximum salary of the higher position including any revision of the maximum salary of the higher position that takes effect during the salary cycle in which the re-evaluation takes place.

- 7.2.2 An employee to whom the above section applies is entitled to be appointed to the first vacant position in their former salary grade.
- 7.3 Where a position is reassessed and is evaluated to a grade with a lower maximum salary, any employee who occupies the position at the time of the re-evaluation shall continue to be entitled to salary progression based on merit to the maximum salary rate of the higher position, including any revision of the maximum salary of the higher position that takes effect during the salary cycle in which the re-evaluation takes place.

7.4

- 7.4.1 Where, because of the abolition of a position, an employee is assigned from one position with the employer to another position with the employer, and the position to which they are assigned is in a salary grade with a lower maximum salary than the maximum salary for the salary grade of the position from which they were assigned, they shall continue to be entitled to salary progression based on merit to the maximum salary of the higher position including any revision of the maximum salary of the higher position that takes effect during the salary cycle in which the assignment takes place.
- 7.4.2 Sub-section 7.4.1 applies only where there is no position the employee is qualified for, and that they may be assigned to, and that is:
  - (a) in the same salary grade that applied to the employee's position before the position was abolished, or
  - (b) in a position having the same maximum salary grade as the maximum salary rate of that applied to the employee's position before the position was abolished.
- 7.5 Where, for reasons of health, an employee is assigned to a position in a salary grade having a lower maximum salary, they shall not receive any salary progression or salary decrease for a period of six (6) months after their assignment, and if at the end of that period, they are unable to accept employment in their former position, they shall be assigned to a position consistent with their condition.
- 7.6 Except as provided above, an employee who is demoted shall be paid at the rate closest to but less than the rate they were receiving at the time of demotion, effective from the date of their demotion.
- 7.7 It is understood that where an employee is assigned to a position pursuant to Section 7.4, 7.5 or 7.6, the provisions of Article 6 (Posting and Filling of Vacancies or New Positions) shall not apply.

7.8 When a new position is to be created or an existing position is to be revised, at the request of either party, the parties shall meet within thirty (30) working days to negotiate the salary range for the new or revised position, provided that should no agreement be reached between the parties, then the Employer shall set the salary grade for the new or revised position, subject to the right of the parties to have the rate determined in accordance with the procedures contained in the Joint Job Evaluation Manual.

#### 7.9 **PAY RATES**

The Employer agrees to pay the rates set out in Appendix 1, but for clarity, "salary" shall mean the employee's hourly rate.

#### 7.10 PART-TIME PAY RATES

- 7.10.1 The "basic hourly rate" of pay for part-time employees is the basic hourly rate for the position.
- 7.10.2 The "weekly rate" of pay for part-time employees is the basic hourly rate times the applicable weekly hours of work.
- 7.10.3 "Weekly hours of work" shall be the average of the regularly scheduled weekly hours of a position over a period of four (4) consecutive weeks.

#### 7.11 **JOB EVALUATION**

The parties have agreed to evaluate jobs jointly and shall do so in accordance with the Joint Job Evaluation Manual.

7.12 The employer may grant one (1) year's credit on the salary scale for every one (1) year's related experience, to the job rate.

#### **ARTICLE 8 - TEMPORARY ASSIGNMENTS**

- 8.1 Where an employee is assigned temporarily to perform the duties of a position with a higher salary maximum for a period in excess of five (5) consecutive working days, they shall be paid acting pay for the position from the day they commenced to perform the duties of the higher position in accordance with the next higher rate in the higher position, provided that where such a change results in an increase of less than three per cent (3%), they shall receive the next higher salary rate again.
- 8.2 When an employee is temporarily assigned to the duties and responsibilities of a position with a lower salary maximum where there is not work reasonably available for them in the position from which they were assigned, they shall be paid the lower applicable rate for the position to which they were assigned, after the expiration of five (5) consecutive working days in such lower position.

- 8.3 When an employee is temporarily assigned to the duties and responsibilities of a position with a lower maximum salary where there is work reasonably available for them in the position from which they were assigned, they shall continue to be paid at the rate applicable to the position from which they were assigned.
- 8.4 This Article shall not apply to temporary assignments where an employee is temporarily assigned to perform the duties and responsibilities of another employee who is on vacation.
- 8.5 Where an employee is temporarily assigned to perform the duties and responsibilities of a position not covered by this Collective Agreement, they shall retain their rights and obligations under the Collective Agreement as they pertain to their bargaining unit position.

8.6.

- 8.6.1 Where an employee is assigned temporarily to a position, Article 6 (Posting and Filling of Vacancies or New Positions) shall not apply except where:
  - (i) the term of a temporary assignment is greater than six (6) months' duration; and
  - (ii) the specific dates of the term are established at least two (2) months in advance of the commencement of the temporary assignment.
- 8.6.2 Except as provided in 8.6.1, in no case shall any provision of the collective agreement with respect to the filling of, assignment or appointment to a vacancy apply to temporary assignments.

# **ARTICLE 9 - HOURS OF WORK**

- 9.1 Except as provided in Article 9.2, the hours of work for employees shall be thirty-six and one-quarter (36¼) hours per week and seven and one-quarter (7½) hours per day with a forty-five minute unpaid lunch.
- 9.2 The hours of work of employees in the Facilities Services and Stores shall be forty (40) hours per week and eight (8) hours per day with a one-half (½) hour unpaid lunch.
- 9.3 Where the Employer adjusts the number of hours per week, the employee's weekly salary based on their basic hourly rate shall be adjusted accordingly. The adjustment will be discussed with the Union prior to such adjustment being made.
- 9.4 Where the Employer intends to transfer employees or an employee from one schedule to another schedule, the Employer will discuss the transfer with the Union prior to such transfer. When the transfer occurs, the employee's weekly salary based on their basic hourly rate shall be adjusted accordingly.

#### 9.5 **JOB SHARING**

- 9.5.1 The parties agree that job sharing may occur where there is mutual agreement between the employees who wish to job share and the Employer.
- 9.5.2 It is agreed that job sharing results from two (2) employees sharing a full time complement position and that such position shall continue to be identified as a full time position.
- 9.5.3 Employees entering into a job sharing arrangement must be:
  - (i) in the same job position/pay range;
  - (ii) in the same division;
  - (iii) equally competent in the position.
- 9.5.4 The Employer and employees shall mutually agree to the hours of work on the understanding that each employee will work fifty (50%) of the regular full time hours for the position but no less than fourteen (14) hours in any given week (averaged over a four (4) week period). It is agreed that hours of work shall not overlap.
- 9.5.5 Employees in a job sharing arrangement may be required to cover off one another's vacation period(s). Such employees will be paid at the straight-time rate except that Article 14 will apply with respect to hours in excess of 7 1/4 or 8.
- 9.5.6 Employees in a job sharing arrangement shall be accorded the working conditions and employee benefits contained in Part A and B of this Agreement, however, where applicable, they shall be pro-rated in accordance with the employee's hours of work.
- 9.5.7 In the event that one (1) employee in the job sharing arrangement leaves that arrangement on a permanent basis for any reason, the remaining employee will be offered the opportunity to assume the position on a full time basis. Every reasonable effort will be made to accommodate the remaining employee where she/he has pre-existing long term commitments.
- 9.5.8 If the remaining employee declines the full time opportunity, the position shall be posted and advertised as a full time vacancy, subject to the provisions of the Collective Agreement, and the remaining employee shall be given notice and exercise their rights under Article 25 (Job Security) of this agreement.

9.5.9 The Employer agrees to notify the Local President of all job sharing arrangements.

#### **ARTICLE 10 - DAYS OFF**

- 10.1 There shall be two (2) consecutive days off which shall be referred to as scheduled days off, except that days off may be non-consecutive if agreed upon between the employee and the Centre.
- 10.2 "Non-Working Day" means a day on which a regular part-time employee is not scheduled to work to complete their regularly scheduled hours.

#### **ARTICLE 11 - SHIFT SCHEDULES**

- 11.1 Shift schedules shall be posted not less than fifteen (15) working days in advance and there shall be no change in the schedule after it has been posted unless notice is given to the employee seventy-two (72) hours in advance of the starting time of the shift as originally scheduled. If the employee concerned is not notified seventy-two (72) hours in advance they shall be paid time and one-half (1-1/2) for the first eight (8) hours worked on the changed shift provided that no premium shall be paid where the change of schedule is caused by events beyond the Centre's control.
- 11.2 Every reasonable effort shall be made to avoid scheduling the commencement of a shift within twelve (12) hours of the completion of the employee's previous shift provided however, that if an employee is required to work before twelve (12) hours have elapsed they shall be paid time and one-half (1-1/2) for those hours that fall within the twelve (12) hour period.
- 11.3 A shift may be changed without any premium or penalty if agreed upon between the employee and the Centre.
- 11.4 It is the intent of the parties that there shall be no split shifts provided however, that in circumstances where split shifts are currently in existence reasonable efforts shall be made to eliminate the split shifts.

#### **ARTICLE 12 - SHIFT PREMIUM**

12.1

- 12.1.1 An employee shall receive a shift premium of seventy-five cents (75 cents) per hour for all hours worked between 5:00 p.m. and midnight. Where more than fifty per cent (50%) of the hours worked fall within this period, the seventy-five cents (75 cents) per hour premium shall be paid for all hours worked.
- 12.1.2 Notwithstanding 12.1.1, an employee shall receive a shift premium of one dollar and five cents (\$1.05) per hour for all hours worked between midnight and 7:00 a.m. Where more than fifty per cent (50%) of the hours

- worked fall within this period, the one dollar and five cents (\$1.05 cents) per hour premium shall be paid for all hours worked.
- 12.2 Notwithstanding 12.1.1 and 12.1.2, where an employee's hours of work normally fall within 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., the employee shall not be entitled to receive a shift premium for hours worked between 5:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m.
- 12.3 Shift premiums shall not be considered as part of an employee's basic hourly rate.
- 12.4 Shift premium shall not be paid to an employee who for mutually agreed upon reasons works a shift for which they would otherwise be entitled to a shift premium.

#### **ARTICLE 13 - REST PERIODS**

13.1 One (1) fifteen (15) minute paid break will normally be provided during each half of a seven and one quarter (7-1/4) hour or eight (8) hour shift as applicable.

#### **ARTICLE 14 - OVERTIME**

- 14.1 The overtime rate for the purposes of this Agreement shall be one and one-half (1-1/2) times the employee's basic hourly rate calculated to the nearest half-hour.
- 14.2 Employees, including part-time employees, who perform work required by the Employer and authorized in advance, that is in excess of seven and one quarter (7-1/4) hours or eight (8) hours as applicable or on a scheduled day off, shall be paid at the overtime rate or receive compensating leave of one and one-half (1-1/2) hours for each hour of overtime worked, at a time mutually agreed upon. Failing agreement, the Centre shall reasonably determine the time of the compensating leave.
- 14.3 Overtime shall be paid within two (2) months of the pay period within which the overtime was actually worked.
- 14.4 Where there is mutual agreement, employees may receive compensating leave in lieu of pay at the overtime rate or may receive pay at the overtime rate in lieu of compensating leave.
- 14.5 Compensating leave accumulated in a calendar year which is not used before March 31 of the following year, shall be paid at the rate it was earned. The March 31 date may be extended by mutual agreement.
- 14.6 In the case of part-time employees with the employee's consent and the consent of the Union, the employer may extend an existing position by a maximum of one (1) day per week beyond the originally posted hours of work for the position without incurring overtime costs.

#### **ARTICLE 15 - CALL BACK**

15.1 An employee who leaves their place of work and is subsequently called back to work prior to the starting time of their next scheduled shift shall be paid a minimum of four (4) hours' pay at one and one-half (1-1/2) times their basic hourly rate. It is understood that when the call-back payment applies, any time that overlaps with a scheduled shift shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) times the basic hourly rate.

#### **ARTICLE 16 - ON-CALL DUTY**

- 16.1 "On-call duty" means a period of time that is not a regular working period, overtime period, stand-by period, or call-back period, during which an employee is required to be reasonably available for recall to work.
- 16.2 On-call duty shall be approved prior to the time the employee is required to be on call.
- 16.3 Where an employee is required to be on call they shall receive sixty-five cents (65 cents) per hour for all hours such employee is assigned to on-call duty.

#### ARTICLE 17 - MEAL ALLOWANCE

- 17.1.
- An employee who continues to work more than two (2) hours of overtime immediately following their scheduled hours of work without notification of the requirement to work such overtime, prior to the end of their previously scheduled shift, shall be reimbursed for the cost of one (1) meal to four dollars (\$4.00) except where free meals are provided or where the employee is being compensated for meals on some other basis.
- 17.1.2 A reasonable time with pay shall be allowed the employee for the meal break either at or adjacent to their work place.
- 17.2.
- 17.2.1 Cost of meals may be allowed only:
- 17.2.2 If during a normal meal period the employee is travelling on Centre business other than:
- (a) within twenty-four (24) kilometres of their assigned headquarters, or
- (b) within the metropolitan area in which they are normally working;
- 17.2.3 If, in an unusual situation, the Director authorizes such payment;

- 17.2.4 If, in any recurring situation, the Director has authorized such payments because of the special nature of the assignments.
- 17.3 Gratuities and taxes are to be included in the actual cost of meals claimed.
- 17.4 The total cost of meals for each day is to be shown.
- 17.5 Before approving claims for meals, the manager should be satisfied that the charges are reasonable for the locality.
- 17.6 When an employee is authorized to pay meal expenses for guests and the group also includes other Centre employees, they may pay for the meals of the employees and claim the cost. These employees should, if they are submitting a claim for the same trip, indicate any meals covered in another employee's claim. They must not claim the cost again.
- 17.7 Costs of meals will not be allowed in cases where meals are made available by the Employer at no cost to the employee, except in circumstances where an employee is required to follow a particular diet which has been medically prescribed or is mandated by the employee's religion and the Employer does not provide meals which meet the requirements of that diet.

#### ARTICLE 18 - HEALTH AND SAFETY AND VIDEO DISPLAY TERMINALS

- 18.1 The Employer shall continue to make reasonable provisions for the safety and health of its employees during the hours of their employment. It is agreed that both the Employer and the Union shall cooperate to the fullest extent possible in the prevention of accidents and in the reasonable promotion of safety and health of all employees. The Employer agrees to establish and maintain one joint Health and Safety Committee in accordance with the provisions of The Occupational Health and Safety Act RSO, 1990. The Committee shall be comprised of at least five (5) representatives from the Union and five (5) representatives from the Employer. The entitlement to pay for time worked in the performance of duties and responsibilities of health and safety representatives within the bargaining unit shall be accordance with the Occupational Health and Safety Act.
- 18.2 The Employer shall provide safety equipment and protective clothing where it requires that such shall be worn by its employees.
- 18.3 The Centre shall provide full-time employees in Facilities Services with two (2) pairs of safety boots per year and part-time employees with one (1) pair of safety boots per year.
- 18.4 The Centre shall provide and maintain appropriate apparel (pants, shirts and parkas or dresses) to employees in Facilities Services and Stores.

#### 18.5 VIDEO DISPLAY TERMINALS

Video display terminal work stations shall be equipped with tables or stands for the terminal to permit it to be at a height appropriate to the circumstances of its use and the seating available for the operator. The chair provided shall have a seat which is adjustable in height, a back rest which is adjustable in height, and a foot rest where necessary to accommodate a particular operator. Where appropriate to the nature of the work, paper stands or work stands shall be provided.

#### **ARTICLE 19 - HOLIDAYS**

19.1 An employee shall be entitled to the following holidays each year:

New Year's Day Family Day

Good Friday Easter Monday

Victoria Day Canada Day

Civic Holiday Labour Day

Thanksgiving Day Christmas Day

Boxing Day

One (1) floating holiday to be scheduled by the Employer during the Christmas/New Year's season, plus two (2) floating holiday to be taken at a mutually agreeable time. Two (2) floating holidays of a newly hired employee will be pro-rated based on date of hire (e.g., hired on or before June 30 – entitled to both; hired after June 30 – entitled to one).

Should the Centre be required to observe an additional paid holiday as a result of legislation, it is understood that one of the existing holidays recognized by the Centre shall be established as the legislated holiday after discussion with the Union, so that the Centre's obligation to provide the number of paid holidays as noted above remains unchanged.

19.2 When a holiday specified in section 19.1 falls on a Saturday or Sunday or when any two of them fall on a successive Saturday or Sunday, the regular working day or days next following is a holiday or are holidays, as the case may be, in lieu thereof, but when such next following regular working day is also a holiday the next regular working day thereafter is in lieu thereof a holiday.

#### 19.3 **HOLIDAY PAYMENT**

Where an employee is authorized to work and works on a holiday included under Article 19.1, they shall be paid at the rate of two (2) times their basic hourly rate for all hours worked.

- 19.4 In addition to any payment provided by Section 19.3, an employee shall receive the number of regularly scheduled hours pay as applicable at their basic hourly rate or compensating leave for the number of regularly scheduled hours as applicable, provided the employee opts for compensating leave prior to the holiday.
- 19.5 When a holiday included under Article 19.1 coincides with an employee's scheduled day off and they do not work on that day, the employee shall be entitled to receive another day off.
- 19.6 Any compensating leave accumulated under sections 19.4 and 19.5 may be taken off at a time mutually agreed upon. Failing agreement, such time off may be taken in conjunction with the employees' vacation leave or regular day(s) off, if requested one (1) month in advance.
- 19.7 Any compensating leave accumulated under sections 19.4 and 19.5 in a calendar year which is not used before March 31 of the following year shall be paid at the rate it was earned. The March 31 date may be extended by agreement between the parties.

#### **ARTICLE 20 - NON-PYRAMIDING OF PREMIUM PAYMENTS**

20.1 There shall be no duplication or pyramiding of any premium payments or compensating leave provided by this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 21 - KILOMETRIC RATES**

21.1 If an employee is required to use his/her own automobile on the Employer's business, the employee shall be reimbursed at the rate established by the Employer's policy applicable to all employees. It is agreed that for the duration of the current collective agreement, this rate shall not fall below forty-five (45) cents per kilometer. For employees providing service in the community reimbursement for the use of an employee's own vehicle will be based on travel following the first visit of the day up to arrival at the last visit of the day.

If the distance between the employee's home and the first visit (or between the last visit and the employee's home) is greater than the distance normally travelled between the employee's home and the employee's assigned headquarters, the difference can be claimed.

- 21.2 The use of privately owned automobiles on the Employer's business is not a condition of employment.
- 21.3 The Employer agrees to maintain single parking rates at \$80/mo.

The Employer agrees to maintain shared parking rates at \$70/mo.

#### **ARTICLE 22 - TIME CREDITS WHILE TRAVELLING**

- 22.1 Employees shall be credited with all time spent in travelling outside of working hours when authorized by the Centre.
- 22.2 Employees providing service in the community will be paid for the regular hours of work as per Article 9, excluding their travel time from home to the first visit of the day and from the last visit of the day to home.
- 22.3 When sleeping accommodation is provided, the hours between eleven (11:00) p.m. and the regular starting time of the employee shall not be credited.
- When an employee is required to travel on their regular day off or a holiday listed in Article 19 (Holidays), they shall be credited with a minimum of four (4) hours.
- 22.5 All travelling time shall be paid at the employee's basic hourly rate or, where mutually agreed, by compensating leave.

#### **ARTICLE 23 - JOB SECURITY**

- 23.1 Where a lay-off may occur by reason of shortage of work or funds or the abolition of a position or other material change in organization, the identification of a surplus employee in the Centre and the subsequent assignment, displacement or lay-off shall be in accordance with seniority subject to the conditions set out in this Article.
- 23.2 Where an employee is identified as surplus they shall be assigned on the basis of their seniority to a vacancy in the Centre within a forty (40) kilometre radius of their headquarters provided they are qualified to perform the work and the salary maximum of the vacancy is not greater than five per cent (5%) above nor twenty per cent (20%) below the maximum salary of their position, as follows:
  - a vacancy which is in the same grade or position as the employee's grade or position;
  - vacancy in a position in which the employee has served during their current term of continuous service; or
  - another vacancy.
- 23.3 It is understood that for the purpose of Notice, Tuition Reimbursement and Separation Payments, layoff shall mean a permanent layoff.
- 23.4 The Employer agrees to notify the Local Union President, as far in advance as possible, but no less than six (6) weeks in advance of the expected date of implementation of a lay-off. Where the employer elects to provide pay in lieu of notice, the employer shall give the union as much notice as possible. In such circumstances, the Employer shall meet with the Union through the Employee/Employer Relations Committee to review:
  - (a) potential alternatives which may include the utilization of other means in order to prevent or minimize the effects of the contemplated action;
  - (b) the method of implementation, i.e. bumping rights, and
  - (c) ways in which laid off employees can be assisted to find alternate employment.

# 23.5 **NOTICE/PAY**

Employees with fewer than four (4) years of service shall be entitled to six (6) weeks' notice or pay in lieu thereof.

Employees with four (4) years of service or more shall receive two (2) weeks' notice of layoff or pay in lieu thereof per year of service to a maximum of eighteen (18) weeks.

Copies of such notice shall be provided to the Local Union President.

#### 23.6 TUITION REIMBURSEMENT

Employees subject to such layoff shall be reimbursed, upon presentation of appropriate receipts for tuition fees to a maximum of \$2500 from an approved education programme.

#### 23.7 **SEPARATION ALLOWANCE**

Where an employee resigns within one (1) month after receiving notice, he/she shall be entitled to a separation allowance of one week's salary for each year of continuous service if the employee has less than four (4) years' service and two (2) weeks' salary for each year of continuous service, if the employee has four (4) or more years' service, to a maximum of eighteen (18) weeks, an employee receiving this pay has no entitlement to recall.

- 23.8 Where an employee is assigned to a vacancy in accordance with sub-sections 23.2, Section 7.4 of Article 7 (Pay Administration) shall apply.
- 23.9 An employee who does not attend a placement interview when requested by the Employer or who does not accept an assignment in accordance with sub-sections 235.2 shall be laid off and the provisions of Sections 23.10, 23.11 and 23.15 shall not apply.
- 23.10 Where an employee has not been assigned to a vacancy in accordance with sub-sections 23.2, they shall be subject to lay-off in accordance with the following applicable sections.

#### 23.11.

- 23.11.1 An employee who has completed their probationary period and who is subject to lay-off as a surplus employee shall have the right to displace an employee who shall be identified by the Employer in the following manner and sequence:
  - (a) The Employer will identify the employee with the least seniority in the same salary grade in which the surplus employee is presently working and if such employee has less seniority than the surplus employee, they shall be displaced by the surplus employee provided that the surplus employee is qualified to perform the work of such employee;
  - (b) If no employee in the same salary grade has less seniority than the surplus employee, the Employer will identify the employee in the salary grade immediately below the salary grade in which the surplus employee is presently working who has the least seniority and if they have less seniority than the surplus employee, they will be displaced by the surplus employee provided that the surplus employee is qualified to perform the work of such employee;
  - (c) Failing displacement under (a) or (b) the Employer will review salary grades in descending order until a position is found in which the

- employee with the least seniority has less seniority than the surplus employee. In that event such employee will be displaced by the surplus employee provided that the surplus employee is qualified to perform the work of such employee;
- (d) Notwithstanding the above, in the event that there are one or more employees in one or more salary grades in which the surplus employee has served during their current length of continuous service who have less seniority than the surplus employee, the surplus employee will displace the employee with the least seniority in the salary grade with the highest salary maximum (no greater than the current salary maximum of the surplus employee's salary grade) and provided that the surplus employee has greater seniority than the displaced employee hereunder, provided that the surplus employee is qualified to perform the work of such employee.
- 23.11.2 Any displacement shall be limited to a salary grade which has a salary maximum no greater than the maximum of the surplus employee's current position and Section 7.4 of Article 7 (Pay Administration) shall not apply.
- 23.12 The employee must indicate in writing to the Vice President of Human Resources their intention to displace another employee as far in advance as possible but not later than two (2) weeks in advance of their date of lay-off. If they do not indicate their intent to displace another employee within this period, they shall be deemed to have opted to be laid off and the provisions of Section 23.15 shall not apply.
- 23.13 Where the employee chooses not to exercise their rights under Section 23.11, they shall be laid off and the provisions of Section 23.15 shall not apply.
- 23.14 An employee who is displaced by an employee who exercises their right under Section 23.11 shall be declared surplus and the provisions of Article 23 shall apply.
- 23.15.
- 23.15.1 Where a surplus employee has not been assigned to a vacancy in accordance with Section 23.2 and no displacement is possible under Section 23.11 and the employee is within the two (2) week period prior to their date of lay-off, they shall be assigned on a retraining basis to a vacancy subject to the following conditions:
  - (a) Such assignments shall be made on the basis of seniority;
  - (b) Such assignments shall be made during the two (2) week period prior to the employee's date of lay-off, where based on information in its records or as provided by the Union or the surplus employee, the Centre determines that the employee has transferable skills which would enable them to meet the normal requirements of the work of

- the vacancy within a maximum retraining period of forty (40) working days;
- (c) Such assignments shall be limited to a salary grade which has a salary maximum no greater than the maximum of the surplus employee's current position and Section 7.4 of Article 7 (Pay Administration) shall not apply;
- (d) Where a surplus employee is assigned to a vacancy in accordance with 23.15.1, their date of lay-off shall be extended to accommodate the retraining period, up to a maximum of forty (40) working days;
- (e) A surplus employee who has been assigned to a vacancy in accordance with 23.15.1 shall have no rights under Sections 23.2 or 23.11 following their original date of lay-off;
- (f) If, at the end of the retraining period, the surplus employee meets the normal requirements of the vacancy to which they have been assigned, they shall be confirmed in that vacancy;
- (g) If, at the end of the retraining period, the surplus employee does not meet the normal requirements of the vacancy to which they have been assigned, they shall be laid off without any additional notice under Section 23.11.
- 23.15.2 In 23.15.1 (b) and (d), days shall include all days exclusive of Saturdays, Sundays and designated holidays.
- 23.15.3 A surplus employee who does not accept an assignment in accordance with 23.15.1 shall be laid off.
- Where an employee has been assigned under 23.15.1 to a vacancy in a salary grade with a salary maximum lower than the salary maximum of the salary grade they held immediately prior to such assignment and subsequently they are laid off in accordance with 23.15.1(g), any termination payments to which they may be entitled under Article 47 (Severance Payments) shall be based on the salary they were receiving immediately prior to the assignment under 23.15.1.
- The assignment of a surplus employee to a vacancy in accordance with Section 23.2 shall have priority over an assignment under 23.15.1.
- 23.16 An assignment under this Article shall not be considered a promotion or a demotion.
- 23.17 Where an employee has been identified as surplus, reasonable time off with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits shall be granted to attend scheduled interviews

for positions within the Centre, provided that the time off does not unduly interfere with operating requirements.

#### 23.18 **RECALL**

- 23.18.1 Where a person who, prior to release, had completed at least one (1) year of continuous service, has been released and a position becomes vacant within one (1) year after their release, notice of the vacancy shall be forwarded to the person at least fourteen (14) days prior to the closing date of the competition and they shall be appointed to the vacancy if:
  - (a) they apply therefore within the fourteen (14) days, and
  - (b) they are qualified to perform the required duties, and
  - (c) no other person who is qualified to perform the required duties and who has a greater length of continuous service applies for the vacancy pursuant to this subsection.
- 23.18.2 Appointment under 23.18.1 shall be limited to a salary grade which has a salary maximum no greater than the maximum of the position the person held when identified as a surplus employee and Section 7.4 of Article 7 (Pay Administration) shall not apply.
- 23.18.3 A person shall lose their rights under 23.18.1 when:
  - (a) they do not attend a placement interview when requested by the Employer; or
  - (b) they do not accept an appointment in accordance with 23.18.1; or
  - (c) having accepted an appointment in accordance with 23.18.1, they fail to report for duty within two (2) weeks of receiving written notice of the appointment.
- 23.18.4 The assignment of a surplus employee to a vacancy in accordance with Sections 23.2 or 23.15 shall have priority over an appointment under 23.18.1.
- Where an employee who has been released is reappointed under this Article to the same position or a position in the same salary grade which they occupied immediately prior to their release, they shall be reappointed at a rate within the salary grade applicable to the position that is equivalent to the salary grade at which they were paid immediately prior to their release.
- 23.18.6 Where a person who has been released is appointed under this Article to a position that is not the same as the position which they occupied immediately prior to their release, they shall be appointed at a rate within

the salary grade applicable to the position commensurate with their qualifications and experience, including previous relevant service with the Centre.

- 23.19 It is understood that when it is necessary to assign surplus employees or appoint persons in accordance with this Article, the provisions of Article 6 (Posting and Filling of Vacancies or New Positions) shall not apply.
- 23.20.
  - 23.20.1 Where it is necessary to release an employee who has completed their probationary period, because of the introduction of technological change in equipment or methods of operation, at least three (3) months' notice in advance of the change shall be given to the employee affected and to the Union.
  - 23.20.2 The matter will then be referred to the joint Employee-Employer Relations Committee of the parties to discuss and to attempt to resolve the problem with relation to the reallocation and retraining of the affected employees with a view to minimizing the effects of the Employer action required to be taken.
- 23.21 The Employer shall not contract out any work usually performed by members of the bargaining unit if, as a result of such contracting out, a layoff of any employees other than casual part-time employees result from such contracting out.

#### **ARTICLE 24 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD AND SENIORITY**

- 24.1 An employee's length of continuous service will accumulate upon completion of a probationary period of six (6) months and shall commence:
  - (a) from the date of appointment to a bargaining unit position for those employees with no prior service; or
  - (b) for a regular part-time employee from the date on which they commenced a period of unbroken, part-time service, immediately prior to appointment to a regular part-time position at the Centre.

"Unbroken service" is that which is not interrupted by separation from employment at the Centre; "full-time" is continuous employment as set out in the hours of work schedules for the appropriate classifications; and "part-time" is continuous employment in accordance with the hours of work specified for the employee.

At the request of the employer, prior to the expiry date of such period, the parties may mutually agree to extend the probationary period. Such extension may be for any period which is mutually agreed, but shall not exceed six (6) months.

24.2 (a) Notwithstanding Article 24.1, where a regular part-time employee becomes a full-time employee any service as a regular part-time employee which forms part of their unbroken service with the employer shall be calculated according to the following formula:

Weekly Hours of Work as a

Regular Part-time employee
Full-time hours of work for position (weekly)

Years of Continuous Service as a Part-time Employee

Changes in the employee's weekly hours of work shall be taken into account.

#### Example:

- Weekly hours of work as a regular part-time employee = 6 years at 20 hours per week, and 2.5 years at 16 hours per week
- Full-time hours of work for position (weekly) = 40
- Seniority (Length of Continuous Service) on becoming a full-time employee

(20 X 6 years) + (16 X 2.5 years) 40 40 = 3 years + 1 year = 4 years

- (b) Notwithstanding Article 24.1, where a part-time term employee becomes a full-time employee any service as a part-time term employee which forms part of their unbroken service with the employer shall be calculated according to the formula in Article 24.2 (a).
- 24.3 Where an employee has been released in accordance with Article 23 (Job Security) and rehired within two (2) years, the period of absence shall not be computed in determining the length of continuous service. However, periods of continuous service before and after such absence shall be considered continuous and are included in determining the length of continuous service.
- 24.4 Continuous service shall be deemed to have terminated if:
  - (a) an employee resigns or retires; or
  - (b) an employee is dismissed unless such dismissal is reversed through the grievance procedure; or
  - (c) an employee is absent without leave in excess of five (5) consecutive working days; or
  - (d) an employee is released in accordance with Article 23 (Job Security) and remains released for more than two (2) years;

- (e) an employee fails to return to work upon receipt of notice of recall; or
- (f) an employee uses an approved leave of absence under Article 27 for a purpose other than the purpose for which the leave was granted;
- (g) if an employee has not worked for a period of six (6) months when work was available provided the employee was not on an approved leave of absence, LTD or WSIB benefits.
- 24.5 The parties agree that the Employer will continue to maintain two (2) seniority lists, i.e. one for full-time employees and one for regular part-time employees, for all purposes. The method of calculating full-time seniority when a part-time employee becomes a full-time employee is set out in Article 24.1. It is further agreed that a full-time employee will maintain seniority when assuming a regular part-time position, and thereafter, shall accumulate seniority on a pro-rata basis.

#### **ARTICLE 25 - CLOSING OF FACILITIES**

- 25.1 In the event that it is necessary to permanently shut down the Centre, a building, an operation or any other facility at any location, the employees involved at the facility in question shall receive as much advance notice as possible, but in any case shall be notified of the imminent closure not later than ninety (90) days in advance of the proposed shut-down.
- 25.2 Where the closing of a facility may result in surplus employees or where a reorganization results in a surplus of twenty (20) employees or more in a location, a committee shall be formed by the parties to provide for consultation and cooperation in order to minimize the adverse effects upon employees who have been identified as surplus to requirements.
- 25.3 The Union may be represented by up to three (3) employees at the location involved and the Centre agrees to grant leave with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits to attend committee meetings.

# **ARTICLE 26 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE**

- 26.1 It is the intent of this Agreement to adjust as quickly as possible any complaints or differences between the parties arising from the interpretation, application, administration or alleged contravention of this Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.
- 26.2.
- An employee who believes they have a complaint or a difference shall first discuss the complaint or difference with their supervisor within twenty (20) working days of first becoming aware of the complaint or difference.

26.2.2 If any complaint or difference is not satisfactorily settled by the supervisor within seven (7) working days of the discussion, it may be processed within an additional ten (10) working days in the following manner:

26.3.

# 26.3.1 **STAGE ONE**

The employee may file a grievance in writing with their supervisor. The supervisor shall give the grievor their decision in writing within seven (7) working days of the submission of the grievance. The parties may agree to hold a meeting during this seven (7) working day period to be attended by the supervisor, employee, Human Resources and the Union representative in an attempt to resolve the issue.

#### 26.3.2 **STAGE TWO**

If the grievance is not resolved under Stage One, the employee may submit the grievance to the Vice President, Human Resources or their designee within seven (7) working days of the date that they received the decision under Stage One. In the event that no decision in writing is received in accordance with the specified time limits in Stage One, the grievor may submit the grievance to the Vice President, Human Resources or their designee within seven (7) working days of the date that the supervisor was required to give their decision in writing in accordance with Stage One.

26.3.3 The Vice President, Human Resources or their designee shall hold a meeting with the employee within fifteen (15) working days of the receipt of the grievance and shall give the grievor their decision in writing within seven (7) working days of the meeting.

26.4.

- If the grievor is not satisfied with the decision of the Vice President, Human Resources or their designee or if they do not receive the decision within the specified time the grievor may refer the matter to Arbitration within fifteen (15) working days of the date they received the decision or within fifteen (15) working days of the specified time limit for receiving the decision.
- 26.4.2 As an alternative to a Board of Arbitration as constituted under Article 26.4.1 the parties may, by mutual agreement, appoint a Sole Arbitrator to resolve any dispute.
- 26.4.3 The parties agree that, in the event of an arbitration under Article 26.4.1 herein, they shall appoint their representatives to the Board of Arbitration within fourteen (14) working days following receipt of notice of referral to arbitration.

- 26.4.4 Should either party fail to appoint its representative within the fourteen-day period referred to in Article 26.4.3, should the representatives fail to agree on a suitable Chairperson within fourteen (14) working days following the completion of the parties appointments or should the parties fail to agree to the appointment of a Sole Arbitrator under Article 26.4.2 within fourteen (14) working days following receipt of notice of referral to arbitration, either party may ask the Ministry of Labour to appoint a representative, Chairperson or Sole Arbitrator and that person shall be a representative, Chairperson or Sole Arbitrator for the purposes of hearing the grievance.
- 26.4.5 The parties agree that each shall pay one-half the remuneration and expenses of the Chairperson of any Board of Arbitration or of any Sole Arbitrator appointed under this Agreement.
- 26.4.6 The parties agree that a Board of Arbitration or Sole Arbitrator appointed to settle a grievance filed under the provisions of this Agreement has the authority to issue a final and binding decision related to any difference between the parties arising out of the interpretation, application, administration or alleged violation of the Agreement, including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable.
- Once an application for arbitration has been filed, the parties may, upon mutual agreement, engage the services of a mediator in an effort to resolve the grievance. The parties will share equally the fees and expenses, if any, of the mediator.
- 26.5 The employee, at their option, may be accompanied and represented by an employee representative at each stage of the grievance procedure, or at any time when formal discipline is imposed. The Centre agrees that it will not discipline an employee without just cause. Where the Centre deems it necessary to suspend or discharge an employee, the Centre shall notify the Union, in writing, of such suspension or discharge.

26.6.

- An employee who is a grievor or complainant and who makes application for a hearing before a Board of Arbitration, Sole Arbitrator or the Ontario Labour Relations Board shall be allowed leave-of-absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits, if required to be in attendance by the Board or Tribunal.
- An employee who has a grievance and is required to attend meetings at Stage One and Two of the Grievance Procedure shall be given time off with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits to attend such meetings.
- 26.6.3 This section shall also apply to the Union Steward who is authorized to represent the grievor.

26.6.4 The Union shall advise the Vice President, Human Resources, of the Union Stewards together with the areas they are authorized to represent, which list shall be updated at least every six (6) months.

# 26.7 **LAYOFF**

Where an employee files a grievance claiming improper layoff and the grievance is referred to Arbitration in accordance with 26.4, the Union shall notify the Employer, in writing, at least three (3) weeks prior to the date established for the Board's hearing, of the title and location of the position which will be the subject matter of the claim before the Board.

#### 26.8. **DISMISSAL**

- A claim by an employee who has completed their probationary period that they have been unjustly dismissed shall be filed as a grievance at Stage 2 of the grievance procedure, provided that the claim is filed within twenty (20) working days of the date of dismissal.
- A probationary employee shall not have the right to grieve under this Article. Such standard amounts to a lesser standard than just cause in accordance with the provisions of the *Labour Relations Act* as amended by Bill 40.

# 26.9 **INSURED BENEFITS GRIEVANCE**

It is the Employer's obligation to pay its share of the billed premium for insurance coverage. Disputes about insurance coverage not already covered by the collective agreement must be addressed to the insurance carrier.

#### 26.10 HARASSMENT/DISCRIMINATION PROCEDURE

26.10.1 All employees covered by this Agreement have a right to freedom from all forms of harassment or discrimination in the workplace by the Employer or agent of the Employer or by another employee.

Harassment means engaging in a course of vexatious comment or conduct that is known or ought reasonably to be known to be unwelcome.

Discrimination is as described in Article 2 - No Discrimination, as defined in section 9 (1) of the Ontario Human Rights Code.

- 26.10.2 Every employee covered by this Collective Agreement has a right to be free from:
  - (a) a sexual solicitation or advance made by a person in a position to confer, grant or deny a benefit or advancement to the employee where the person making the solicitation or advance knows or ought reasonably to know that it is unwelcome; or
  - (b) a reprisal or a threat of reprisal for the rejection of a sexual solicitation or advance where the reprisal is made or threatened by a person in a position to confer, grant or deny a benefit or advancement to the employee.

# 26.10.3.

26.10.3.1 The time limits set out in Section 26.2.1 do not apply to complaints under this Article, provided that the complaint is made within a reasonable time of the conduct complained of, having regard to all the circumstances.

- 26.10.3.2 Where, at any time either before the making of a complaint or the filing of a grievance under Article 26, the Employer establishes an investigation of the complaint, or the employee agrees to the establishment of such an investigation, pursuant to any staff relations policy or other procedure of the Employer, the time limits for the processing of the complaint or grievance under Article 26 shall be suspended until the employee is given notice in writing of the results of the investigation. The Employer will ensure that any employee interviewed by the Employer in an investigation of a complaint raised under this provision will, at the employee's option, be accompanied by a union steward.
- 26.10.3.3 Where a complaint under this Article is made against an employee's supervisor, or any person with supervisory responsibilities at a higher level over the employee, any oral complaint or written grievance which is expressed in Article 26 to be presented to the supervisor may be presented directly to the Vice President, Human Resources, or their designee.
- 26.10.4 Where it appears to the Board of Arbitration or Sole Arbitrator that an employee who is a grievor under this Article has made a complaint under the Ontario Human Rights Code relating to the conduct which is the subject of the grievance, the Board of Arbitration or Sole Arbitrator may, as it sees fit, adjourn the grievance, stay the grievance, or dismiss the grievance.
- 26.10.5 An employee who makes a complaint under this Article may be accompanied and represented by an employee representative at the time of the discussion of the complaint, at each stage of the grievance procedure, and in the course of any investigation established by the Employer under any staff relations policy.

# 26.11 JOB EVALUATION

An employee who alleges that their position is improperly evaluated shall follow the procedure set out in the Joint Job Evaluation Manual.

#### 26.12 UNION GRIEVANCE

A grievance arising directly between the Employer and the Union concerning the interpretation, application, administration or alleged contravention of the Agreement, shall be originated at the second stage of the grievance procedure within thirty (30) days following the occurrence or origination of the circumstances giving rise to the grievance. Where the grievance is an Employer grievance it shall be filed with the Local President or designate.

#### 26.13 **GENERAL**

Where a grievance is not processed within the time allowed or has not been processed by the employee or the Union within the time prescribed it shall be deemed to have been withdrawn.

- 26.14 The time limits contained in this Article may be extended by agreement of the parties in writing.
- 26.15 A Board of Arbitration or Sole Arbitrator shall have no jurisdiction to alter, change, amend or enlarge any provision of the Collective Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 27 - LEAVE OF ABSENCE**

# 27.1 **Provincial Union Leave**

Upon request by the Union, confirmed in writing, and provided that reasonable notice is given, leave-of-absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits shall be granted to employees elected as Executive Board Members and Executive Officers of the Union, for the purpose of conducting the internal business affairs of the Union.

- 27.2 When an employee is elected as the Union's President or First Vice-President, the Union will, immediately following such election, advise the Employer of the name of the employee so elected. Leave-of-absence with pay shall be granted for the duration of the current term of office.
- 27.3 During the term of such leave-of-absence, the Union will reimburse the Employer for the salary paid to the employee on such leave-of-absence and contribute the Employer's share of contributions to the Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan and the Canada Pension Plan. The Union will make the Employer's contributions to any prevailing health or other plans applicable to the elected employee and will make the Employer's contribution for Employment Insurance.
- 27.4 On completion of the employee's term of office, the President or First Vice-President may return to their previous employment and service shall be deemed to be continuous for all purposes. Any leave-of-absence extending beyond the initial term of office of the President or First Vice-President shall be a matter to be determined between the parties and any such additional leave shall be subject to the same conditions and terms as prevailed in the initial leave-of-absence.

#### 27.5 Local Union Leaves

Upon at least fourteen (14) days' written notice by the Union, leave-of-absence without pay but with no loss of credits shall be granted for not more than four (4) consecutive days for each employee delegate for the purpose of attending the Annual Convention.

#### 27.6 Leave for Local President

The President or Acting President of Local 511 shall be granted fifty-two (52) days per year paid leave of absence for local Union activities, provided that the leave shall not interfere with the adequate performance of their duties. The Union shall pay, through OPSEU's Local Time-Off fund, for any days exceeding the first twenty-six (26) days taken during the calendar year. It is agreed that such leave will be scheduled on a consistent basis in advance and will not be taken in increments of less than one half (1/2) days.

#### 27.7 Local Business Leave

On the understanding that leaves under this Article will be limited to one (1) employee at any given time, it is agreed that a total of one hundred and eighty (180) days' time off with pay and no loss of credits shall be given annually for the purpose of conducting the internal business of the local Union. Reimbursement to Surrey Place Centre by the Union shall be made upon receipt of an invoice from the employer.

# 27.8 **Demand Setting**

At the written request of the Union of at least fourteen (14) days, leaves-of-absence without pay but with no loss of credits shall be granted to an employee for the purpose of setting demands for negotiations. It is understood that such meetings will be held on Saturdays or Sundays and that the total time granted for each instance shall not exceed two (2) consecutive days for each employee.

#### 27.9 **Negotiations**

Leave-of-absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits shall be granted to a member of the Union who participates in negotiations, conciliation or mediation, provided that not more than five (5) employees at any one time shall be permitted such leave for any one set of negotiations. Leaves-of-absence granted under this sub-section shall include reasonable travel time. The Union shall make every reasonable effort to ensure a broad representation from all departments within the Centre.

27.10 Members of the Union granted leaves-of absence under sub-section 27.9 shall also be granted reasonable time off without pay but with no loss of credits to attend Union bargaining team caucus sessions held immediately prior to such negotiations, conciliation or mediation.

# 27.11 Employee Benefits Committee

Leave-of-absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits shall be granted to a member of the Union who participates in meetings of the Employee Benefits Committee as set out in Appendix 4, provided that not more than two (2) employees at one time shall be permitted such leave.

#### 27.12 **General**

The employee shall discuss any required leave with the Manager at the earliest opportunity.

27.13 All requests for leave-of-absence permitted in these sections shall be sent to the Vice President, Human Resources of the Centre. All reasonable efforts will be undertaken to provide notice at least two (2) weeks in advance of the leave requested. Such notice shall not apply to Article 27.6 Leave for Local President. It is understood that leaves requested by the Union may be withheld if such leaves unduly interfere with the operating requirements of the Employer.

Leave of absence with no loss of pay and with no loss of credits shall be granted to members of the Union who participate in joint meetings with the Employer (EERC, Health and Safety, JJEC, Accommodation Committee and Benefits Committee.)

# 27.14 Discretionary Leave - Without Pay

Leave-of-absence without pay and without accumulation of credits may be granted to an employee by the employer.

# 27.15 **Discretionary Leave - With Pay**

Leave-of-absence with pay may be granted by the Employer for special purposes, including, but not restricted to religious leave, personal matters and special or compassionate leave. Such leave shall not be unreasonably denied.

# 27.16 Leave - Jury Duty

Where an employee is absent by reason of a summons to serve as a juror or a subpoena as a witness, the employee may, at their option:

- (a) treat the absence as leave without pay and retain any fee they receive as a juror or as a witness; or
- deduct the period of absence from their vacation leave-of-absence credits or their overtime credits and retain any fee they receive as a juror or as a witness; or
- (c) treat the absence as leave with pay and pay to the Centre any fee they have received as a juror or as a witness, provided that the Centre shall not be responsible for paying for more than six (6) months' such leave.

# 27.17 Leave - Military Service

The employer may grant leave-of-absence for not more than one (1) week with pay and not more than one (1) week without pay in a fiscal year to an employee for the purpose of Canadian Forces Reserve training.

#### 27.18 Leave - Credit Reports

Employees shall be advised of the number of vacation and short-term sickness plan credits to which they are entitled twice yearly in January and June.

#### 27.19 Parental Leave

Leave with full salary and benefits of up to five (5) working days shall be granted to an employee following the birth of the employee's child provided the employee is not also in receipt of pregnancy leave benefits. Leave of absence without pay for an additional one week shall be granted if so requested. For part-time employees, pay for the five-day period herein shall be pro-rated.

# 27.20 Special and Compassionate Leave

The Vice President, Human Resources or their designee may grant an employee leave-of-absence with pay for not more than three (3) days in a year upon special or compassionate grounds. In cases of bereavement, it is understood that such leave will not be unreasonably withheld.

27.21 The granting of leave under this Article shall not be dependent upon or charged against accumulated credits.

#### 27.22 Bereavement Leave

An employee who would otherwise have been at work shall be allowed up to four (4) days leave-of-absence with pay in the event of the death of their spouse, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son, daughter, step-child(ren), brother, sister, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, sister-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparent, grandchild, step-parent, ward or guardian.

In addition an employee who would have otherwise have been at work shall be allowed up to one (1) day's leave-of-absence with pay to attend the funeral or memorial service in the event of the death of a niece, nephew, aunt, uncle.

# 27.23 Pregnancy/Parental Leave

Pregnancy leave is a leave of absence by reason of the employee's pregnancy.

- 27.24 Parental leave is defined as a leave of absence for a natural parent, a person with whom a child is placed for adoption or a person who is in a relationship of some permanence with the parent of a child and who intends to treat the child as their own.
- 27.25 The leave-of-absence shall be in accordance with the provisions of The *Employment Standards Act*, as amended from time to time (Pregnancy Leave).

#### **27.26 General**

For those employees other than probationary employees, seniority accrues during pregnancy, parental and adoption leave.

- 27.27 During pregnancy, or parental leave, unless the employee elects in writing not to do so, the employee shall continue to participate in Basic Life, Supplementary Life, Dependent Life, Supplementary Health and Hospital, Long Term Income Protection and the Dental Plan and the employee and Employer premium contributions shall continue as provided in this Agreement.
- 27.28 If requested, in writing, at least four (4) weeks prior to the date of expiry of the pregnancy/parental leave, an employee who has taken pregnancy leave shall be entitled to a leave-of-absence without pay of up to six (6) months. This leave of absence must be immediately taken consecutively to the pregnancy/parental leave otherwise the Employer deems it is not an entitlement and is not required to grant this leave of absence.
- 27.29 An employee returning from a leave-of-absence under section 27.26 or 27.28 shall be assigned to their former position and be paid at the step in the salary range that the employee had attained when the leave-of-absence was granted.
- 27.30 Notwithstanding Article 27.29, an employee who has been assigned in accordance with Article 18.6.2 and who returns from a leave-of-absence under this Article, shall be assigned to the position they occupied immediately prior to the assignment under Article 18.6.2 and be paid at the salary rate they had attained immediately prior to the assignment under Article 18.6.2.

# 27.31 Supplementary Employment Benefits ("SEB") Plan

An employee entitled to pregnancy or adoption leave under this Article, who provides the Employer with proof that they have applied for and are eligible to receive employment insurance benefits pursuant to Section 30, *Employment Insurance Act*, 1971 or as amended shall be paid an allowance in accordance with the Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan.

- 27.32 In respect of the period of pregnancy and adoption leave, payments made according to the Supplementary Employment Benefit Plan will consist of the following:
  - (a) for the first two (2) weeks, payments equivalent to eighty-four percent (84%) of the actual weekly rate of pay for the position, which the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the commencement of the pregnancy or adoption leave, and
  - (b) up to a maximum of fifteen (15) additional weeks' payments equivalent to the difference between the sum of the weekly EI benefits the employee is eligible to receive and any other earnings received by the employee, and eighty-four percent (84%) of the actual weekly rate of pay for the position which the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the commencement of the pregnancy or adoption leave.

The Supplementary Employment Benefit shall be based on the salary the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the commencement of the pregnancy or adoption leave.

27.33 Notwithstanding Article 27.32, where an employee assigned to a vacancy in accordance with Article 18.6.2 (Health and Safety - VDT's) is eligible to receive an allowance under this Article, and the salary rate the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the pregnancy leave is less than the salary rate the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the assignment, the allowance shall be based on the actual weekly rate of pay for the position which the employee was receiving on the last day worked prior to the assignment.

## 27.34 Family Leave

The Employer recognizes that employees have responsibilities and commitments involving the family and its well-being. In recognition of this fact, in the case of family circumstances, other than illness or injury to a child, which prevent an employee from reporting to work, an annual special family leave with pay of up to three (3) working days' duration may be granted at the discretion of the Employer. Requests for such leave will not be unreasonably withheld.

#### ARTICLE 28 - PREPAID LEAVE PLAN (PLP

# (a) Eligibility

Any permanent full-time employee having one (1) year's seniority within the Centre may apply in writing to participate in the PLP. Part-time or temporary employees are not eligible.

The parties agree that no more than five bargaining unit employees in total or one bargaining unit employee in each division shall be entitled to such leave at any one time.

# (b) Application

- (i) Written acceptance or denial with explanation will be forwarded to the applicant within sixty (60) days.
- (ii) Approval of individual requests to participate in the PLP shall rest solely with the Employer, who shall in its discretion decide whether to grant such leave on the basis of whether such leave would impair its ability to service its clients. However, it is understood that such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Applications shall be made on January 15th and July 15th in each year.
- (c) Applications shall be on a first come first served basis, but where all other conditions for a leave have been met, the Employer will select from among competing applicants on the basis of seniority.

## (d) **Deferral Plan**

The following shall constitute the PLP available:

Four (4) years' deferral of one-fifth (1/5) of annual salary in each calendar year ("Deferral Period") followed by one (1) year of leave ("the Leave").

## (e) Written Agreement

Following the Employer's approval the employee and the Employer shall enter into a written agreement setting out the terms of the PLP agreed to in compliance with the conditions herein.

## (f) Selection of Carrier

The parties agree that the one-fifth (1/5) of the employee's salary deferred in each year shall be deposited to an individual account maintained by the Centre for the employee in trust. All interest income accrued in a year on the funds deposited shall be paid to the employee in that year. The employee shall be liable to pay any income tax on the interest income attributable to the funds deposited.

## (g) Terms and Conditions

The payment of salary and benefits during the deferral period and the one (1) year of leave shall be as follows:

(i) In each year of the Deferral Period preceding the year of the Leave, the employee will be paid a reduced percentage of the annual salary, in accordance with Subsection (c) above. The remaining percentage of the annual salary and applicable allowances will be deferred and this accumulated amount shall be retained for the employee to finance the employee's year of leave.

#### (ii) Interest Rate

A statement of the account standing to the employee's credit will be sent to each employee yearly on the anniversary of entry into the plan.

## (iii) Benefits Structuring

During the years of the PLP prior to the year of the leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received during the deferral period had the employee not been in the PLP.

#### (iv) **Premium Cost**

An employee's coverage for the Benefits Plan and the Employer Health Tax in effect immediately prior to the leave, will be maintained during the leave of absence at the employee's option, if eligibility conditions permit; however, all the premium costs of such plans shall be paid by the employee during the leave.

During the year of the program that the employee is on leave, any benefits related to salary level shall be structured according to the salary the employee would have received immediately prior to the leave had the employee not been in the PLP.

#### (v) Vacation

Absence on a PLP shall be counted as service for the purpose of determining vacation entitlement, but shall not be counted as service for the purpose of determining severance pay entitlement. During the year preceding and the year following the leave, but not during the leave itself, the employee will receive full vacation and holiday benefits in accordance with this Agreement as if employment had been continuous and not interrupted by the year of the leave.

## (vi) Seniority

During the year of the leave, seniority shall accumulate for the entire period of the leave. On return from leave, an employee will be assigned to their former position. However, if such changes have occurred as a result of funding which impacts on bargaining unit complements, provisions of Article 23 apply. During the year of leave, salary level will be adjusted in the same manner as for all bargaining unit members.

# (vii) Payout

At the commencement of the year of the Leave, the Employer shall pay to the employee the monies standing to the employee's credit less any premiums or contributions deducted for the year, except as may otherwise be mutually agreed ("Deferred Amount"). Other than the Deferred Amount, the employee shall not receive any salary or wages from the Employer or a person not dealing at arm's length with the Employer.

#### (viii) Abandoned Leave

If the employee does not commence the leave period within one year following the Deferral Period, the Deferred Amount must be paid to the employee before the end of that year.

#### (ix) Leave

The Leave shall be for a period of not less than six (6) consecutive months nor more than one (1) year.

#### (x) E.I.C. and C.P.P.

Employment Insurance Premiums ("EIC") will be based on gross salary during the Deferral Period and no EIC will be payable during the Leave. Canada Pension Plan premiums will be based on the employee's net salary during both the Deferral Period and the Leave.

## (h) Withdrawal Rights

- (i) In the case of financial or other hardship and by mutual agreement, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, a participant may withdraw from the PLP any time prior to commencement of the leave.
- (ii) Anyone withdrawing from the PLP shall be paid a lump sum adjustment equal to monies deferred plus interest monies accrued to the date of withdrawal from the PLP. Payment shall be made within thirty (30) calendar days after withdrawal from the PLP.
- (iii) The Employer may up to two hundred and seventy (270) days prior to the commencement of the leave, postpone the leave, but the period of the postponement shall not exceed twelve (12) months. In this instance, a participant may choose to remain in the Plan or to receive payment as in (h (ii)) above.

## (i) On Leaving Employment

Any participant, who resigns, retires, is declared surplus or is terminated prior to commencement of the leave, shall cease to be a participant in the PLP, and shall receive payment as in sub-paragraph (h (ii)) above.

## (j) Death Clause

Should the participant die while enrolled in the PLP, all monies accumulated plus interest accrued, will be paid to the estate. Every agreement entered into, shall state that monies paid to the estate of an employee under this section as a "right or thing" within the meaning of the *Income Tax Act* (Canada "Tax Act").

(k) During each taxation year the participating employee's income tax liability shall be in accordance with the *Income Tax Act* and the amount of the withholding tax deducted at source by the Employer shall be based on monies actually received by the employee in each taxation year subject to the acceptance of the PLP by Revenue Canada, Taxation.

(I) An employee must return to regular employment with the Employer after the Leave for a period that is not less than the period of the Leave.

#### **ARTICLE 29 - PERFORMANCE APPRAISALS**

- 29.1 The Employer agrees that performance appraisals or evaluations shall be done in a fair and equitable manner within sixty (60) days of the employee's anniversary date and that their primary purpose is professional development.
- 29.2 A copy of each performance appraisal shall be given to an employee and a copy shall be placed on his or her file.
- 20.3 An employee who objects to his or her performance appraisal may elect to attach a statement to the document setting out the details of and reasons for those objections.

#### ARTICLE 30 - INFORMATION TO NEW EMPLOYEES/PRINTING OF AGREEMENT

## 30.1 Information To New Employees

Newly hired employees shall be informed in writing whether the employee's position is within the bargaining unit, the name and address of the bargaining agent and the name and work location of the local union steward which shall be provided as per sub-section 26.6.4 of Article 26 (Grievance Procedure).

## 30.2 **Printing of Agreement**

- (a) The Union shall prepare any revised Collective Agreement and submit it to the Employer for review. The parties shall meet to sign the revised collective agreement within ninety (90) days of ratification.
- (b) The Union and the Employer desire every employee to be familiar with the provisions of this Agreement and their rights and duties under it. For this reason, sufficient copies of this Agreement shall be printed by the OPSEU with the cost of such printing to be shared equally by the Employer and the Union and distributed to the membership within ten (10) working days of receipt of the printed Collective Agreement.

# ARTICLE 31 - EMPLOYEE/EMPLOYER RELATIONS COMMITTEE (EERC)

- 31.1 The Union and the Employer agree that consultation and communication on matters of joint interest are desirable to promote constructive and harmonious relations.
- 31.2.
- 31.2.1 The parties agree that a joint consultation committee composed of up to five (5) representatives from the Union and up to five (5) representatives

- of the Employer, shall be used as a forum for consultation on changes in conditions of employment not governed by this Agreement and on other matters of mutual interest.
- 31.2.2 The committee shall meet once every two (2) months, or more frequently, with the consent of the parties.
- 31.3 While the committee shall consider and attempt to resolve all problems of mutual concern, it is understood that the committee shall function in an advisory capacity to the parties and shall have no power to alter, amend, add to or modify the terms of this Agreement.

#### **ARTICLE 32 - HEADQUARTERS**

- 32.1 This article applies to employees who do not attend at or work at or work from any permanent location in the course of their duties, but for whom a permanent facility or other place is designated as an employee's "headquarters" for the purposes of the provisions of this collective agreement and of various allowances which require a headquarters to be specified.
- 32.2 The employer may designate a headquarters when an employee is initially appointed to a position, or when a position is filled by an employee in accordance with Article 6, Article 7, or Article 23 of this collective agreement. All job postings, notices and offers in relation to positions covered by this article shall include the designated headquarters for the position. This designation shall be the location considered by the employer to be the most convenient for the efficient conduct of the employer's business, having regard to the employer's projection of the location of the employee's work assignments for a period of two years. It is not a requirement that the designated headquarters be a facility whose functions are related to the work to be performed by the employee, and the employee's residence may also be designated as their headquarters. The Employer will supply to the Union, by December 30 of each year, a current list of headquarters designations for employees covered by this article.
- 32.3 By mutual agreement in writing between the employer and an employee, a new headquarters may be designated for an employee at any time, and by mutual agreement in writing between the employer and the employee a temporary or seasonal headquarters may be designated for a stated period, following which the previously designated headquarters will be reinstated unless it has been changed in accordance with this article.
- 32.4 The employer may change the headquarters of an employee covered by this article, if:
  - (a) the employee's residence has been designated as their headquarters and the employee subsequently initiates a change of residence; or

- (b) a location which has been designated as the employee's headquarters ceases to operate; or
- (c) the employee is assigned to a work location or work locations at least forty (40) km's by road from their existing headquarters, and it is anticipated that the employee will continue to work in the area of the new work location or work locations for at least two (2) years.
- 32.5 Where the employer exercises its right to change the headquarters of an employee otherwise than by mutual agreement with the employee, the following procedure will apply:
  - (a) The employer shall first give notice to the employee of its intent, and shall consult with the employee to determine the employee's interests and the employee's preferences as to the new headquarters location.
  - (b) The employer shall determine the new headquarters location in a way which is equitable to both the employee and the employer.
  - (c) The employee shall be given one (1) month's notice of the change in designation of the headquarters. The Employer will give due consideration to an employee request to extend such notice in individual circumstances.
- 32.6 Where it is necessary to identify which one or more of a group of employees is to be assigned to a new headquarters, the employees to be reassigned shall be identified by considering the qualifications, availability, and current location (home, closest facility and work location). Where qualifications, availability and location are relatively equal, length of continuous service shall be used to identify the employee to be reassigned.
- 32.7 Employees who relocate their residences because of a change in headquarters, other than a temporary or seasonal change, in accordance with this article, shall be deemed to have been relocated for the purposes of the Employer's policy on relocation expenses.

#### **ARTICLE 33 - RETIREMENT**

## 33.1 Retirement Counselling

The Employer shall provide pre-retirement counselling programs aimed at assisting employees to prepare for changes in their work and life incidental to retirement. The Human Resource Department and the Finance Department will be available for advice and counselling for any employee nearing normal retirement age.

#### 33.2 Benefits

During any period in which employment is extended beyond the age of 71, the Employer will continue to pay premiums for Supplementary Health and Hospital Insurance as per Article 41 and for Dental Plan benefits as per Article 42 contained herein.

Life insurance will be as provided as per Article 37.4 contained herein. The Short Term Sickness Plan (STSP) and Long Term Insurance Protection (LTIP) as defined in Articles 39 (LTIP) and 46 (STSP) will cease at the end of the month in which the employee turns 65.

#### **ARTICLE 34 - REORGANIZATION**

34.1 In the case of reorganization of a department or division, the Employer shall consult with the Union in advance of reorganization.

#### **ARTICLE 35 - STAFF TRAINING**

- 35.1 The Employer and the Union share a joint commitment towards the professional development and training of all bargaining unit members.
- 35.2 Where, as a result of operational requirements or changes, the Employer requires bargaining unit members to develop new or greater skills, such members shall, at the Employer's expense, be provided with a reasonable opportunity to acquire such skills through an Employer-sponsored training program. Employees undertaking Employer requested training will maintain their salary and benefits during such training.
- 35.3 A regular employee with at least one (1) year of seniority, and who is actively at work, shall be eligible for reimbursement for up to 100% of the cost of tuition fees in connection with a recognized program that directly relates to the employee's job, provided an employee who seeks reimbursement obtains the Employer's consent prior to enrolling in such courses, such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. Upon successful completion of the course, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for such expense, provided the employee submits proof of successful completion and a receipt for such expense.

#### **PART B - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS**

## **ARTICLE 36 - APPLICATION OF PART B, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS**

- 36.1 Subject to the provisions of Appendix 3 (Term Employees), the benefits described in Articles 37 to 49 apply to all full time and regular part-time members of the bargaining unit represented by the Ontario Public Service Employees Union. However, part-time employees working fewer than fourteen (14) hours per week shall not be entitled to benefits.
- 36.2 In Articles 37 to 49, salary means gross earnings from weekly hours of work, exclusive of premium payments.
- 36.3 For the purposes of Part B (Insured Benefits) of this collective agreement, "spouse" shall include a partner of the same sex.

#### **ARTICLE 37 - BASIC LIFE INSURANCE**

- 37.1 The Employer shall pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the monthly premium of the basic life insurance plan.
- 37.2 The basic life insurance plan shall provide:
  - (a) coverage equal to one hundred per cent (100%) of annual salary or ten thousand dollars (\$10,000), whichever is greater;
  - (b) where an employee is continuously disabled for a period exceeding six (6) months, the Employer will continue to pay monthly premiums on behalf of the employee until the earliest of recovery, death, or the end of the month in which the employee reaches age 65. Any premiums paid by the employee for this coverage between the date of disability and the date this provision comes into force shall be refunded to the employee;
  - (c) a conversion option for terminating employees to be obtained without evidence of insurability and providing coverage up to the amount for which the employee was insured prior to termination (less the amount of coverage provided by the Employer in the case of retirement). The premium of such policy shall be at the current rates of the insuring company. Application must be made within thirty-one (31) days of the date of termination of insurance. The Employer will advise terminating employees of this conversion privilege. The minimum amount that may be converted is two thousand dollars (\$2,000).

The conversion options shall be:

- 1. Any standard life or endowment plans (without disability or double-indemnity benefits) issued by the insurance carrier.
- 2. A one (1) year term insurance plan which is convertible to the standard life or endowment plans referred to in 1 above.
- 3. A term to age sixty-five (65) insurance plan.
- 37.3 The amount of basic life insurance will be adjusted with changes in the employee's salary from the date of approval of the increase or the effective date, whichever is later. If an employee is absent from work because of sickness or disability on the date an increase in insurance would have occurred, the increase will not take effect until the employee returns to work on a full-time basis (i.e., for at least one (1) full day).
- 37.4 Basic life insurance will terminate at the end of the month in which an employee ceases to be an employee unless coverage is extended under the total disability provision. Employees who receive a monthly benefit from Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan (HOOPP) are entitled to free coverage of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) not earlier than thirty-one (31) days after the first of the month coinciding with or following date of retirement and this amount will be kept in force for the remainder of the employee's life. For the employees working beyond age 65, the Employer will pay the premium for the \$2,000 coverage.

#### ARTICLE 38 - SUPPLEMENTARY AND DEPENDENT LIFE INSURANCE

- 38.1 (a) Employees, at their option, may purchase Supplementary Life Insurance in any amount between \$10,000-\$300,000 in \$10,000 increments; subject to evidence of insurability. The employee pays the full premium for this coverage.
  - (b) The employee's Supplementary Life Insurance provides:
    - (i) a waiver of premium on disablement to become effective after nine (9) months continuous disability or entitlement to Long Term Income Protection benefits, whichever comes first, and to remain in force while the employee is totally disabled until the earliest of recovery, death, or the end of the month in which the employee reaches age 65. The premiums paid by the employee for this coverage between the date of disability and the date the premium waiver comes into force shall be refunded to the employee;
    - (ii) a conversion option on the employee's termination to be obtained without evidence of insurability and providing coverage up to the amount for which the employee was insured prior to termination. The premium of such policy shall be at the current rates of the insuring company. Application must be made within thirty-one (31) days of the

date of termination of insurance. The Employer will advise terminating employees of this conversion privilege. The conversion option shall be as stated in sub-section 37.2(c) of Article 37 (Basic Life Insurance).

- 38.2 The amount of Supplementary Life Insurance will be adjusted with changes in the employee's salary, subject to proof of insurability when required by the insurer, from the date of the approval of the increase or the effective date, whichever is later. If an employee is absent from work because of sickness or disability on the date an increase in insurance would have occurred, the increase will not take effect until the employee returns to work on a full-time basis (i.e., for at least one (1) full day). In the event of a reduction in salary, an employee, at their option, may maintain the insurance coverage at the former higher level.
- 38.3 Supplementary Life Insurance will terminate at the earlier of either the end of the calendar month in which the employee ceases to be an employee or, if the employee continues to be employed after age 65, on the first day of October following the employee's 65th birthday, except where coverage is provided under total disability, as described in 38.1(b)(i) above.
- 38.4 (a) Employees, at their option, may purchase life insurance for dependants in one of two manners: Option A: one thousand dollars (\$1,000) on the employee's spouse and five hundred dollars (\$500) on each dependent child, or Option B: two thousand dollars (\$2,000) on the employee's spouse and one thousand dollars (\$1,000) on each dependent child. The employee pays the full premium for this coverage.
  - (b) Dependent Life Insurance will terminate at the earlier of either the end of the calendar month in which the employee ceases to be an employee or, if the employee continues to be employed after age 65, the first day of October following the employee's 65th birthday, or the date a dependent ceases to be an eligible dependent.
  - (c) Conversion option: When an employee terminates, Dependent Life Insurance on a spouse may be converted to an individual policy which may be obtained without evidence of insurability and providing coverage for the same amount for which the spouse was insured as a dependent prior to termination. The premium of such policy shall be at the current rates of the insuring company. Application for the converted policy must be made within thirty-one (31) days of the date of termination of insurance.
  - (d) Eligible dependents shall include spouse, unmarried children under 21 years of age, unmarried children between 21 and 25 years of age and in full-time attendance at an educational institution or on vacation there from, and children 21 years of age and over, mentally or physically infirm and who are dependent.

38.5 An employee who applies to purchase or increase this insurance including increases pursuant to Article 38.2, at any other time must provide evidence of insurability satisfactory to the insurer.

## ARTICLE 39 - LONG TERM INCOME PROTECTION (L.T.I.P.)

- 39.1 The Employer shall pay eighty-five per cent (85%) of the monthly premium of the Long Term Income Protection Plan.
- 39.2.
- 39.2.1 The Long Term Income Protection benefit is sixty-six and two-thirds per cent (66-2/3%) of the employee's gross salary at the date of disability, including any retroactive salary adjustment to which the employee is entitled.
- The Long Term Income Protection benefit to which an employee is entitled under 39.2.1 shall be reduced by the total of other disability or retirement benefits payable under any other plan toward which the Employer makes a contribution except for Workers' Compensation benefits paid for an unrelated disability, and such benefits are payable until recovery, death or the end of the month in which the employee reaches age 65.
- 39.2.3 Long Term Income Protection benefits commence after a qualification period of six (6) months from the date the employee becomes totally disabled.
- Total disability means the continuous inability as the result of illness, mental disorder, or injury of the insured employee to perform any and every duty of their normal occupation during the qualification period, and during the first twenty-four (24) months of benefit period; and thereafter during the balance of the benefit period, the inability of the employee to perform any and every duty of any gainful occupation for which they are reasonably fitted by education, training or experience.
- 39.3 The Employer will continue to make pension contributions and premium payments for the Dental Plan and for Supplementary Health and Hospital on behalf of the employee, at no cost to the employee, while the employee receives or is qualified to receive L.T.I.P. benefits under the plan, unless the employee is supplementing a W.S.I.B. award.
- 39.4 A record of employment, if required in order to claim Employment Insurance sickness and disability benefits, will be granted to an employee and this document shall not be considered as termination of employment.
- 39.5 Long Term Income Protection coverage will terminate at the end of the calendar month in which an employee ceases to be an employee. If the employee is totally

- disabled on the date their insurance terminates, they shall continue to be insured for that disability.
- 39.6 If, within three (3) months after benefits from the L.T.I.P. plan have ceased, an employee has a recurrence of a disability due to the same or a related cause, the L.T.I.P. benefit approved for the original disability will be reinstated immediately.
- 39.7 If an employee who is in receipt of L.T.I.P. benefits is resuming employment on a gradual basis during recovery, partial benefits shall be continued during rehabilitative employment. "Rehabilitative employment" means remunerative employment while not yet fully recovered, following directly after the period of total disability for which benefits were received. When considering rehabilitative employment benefits, L.T.I.P. will take into account the employee's training, education and experience. The rehabilitative benefit will be the monthly L.T.I.P. benefit less fifty per cent (50%) of rehabilitative employment earnings. The benefit will continue during the rehabilitative employment period up to but not more than twenty-four (24) months. Rehabilitative employment may be with the Employer or with another employer.
- 39.8 The L.T.I.P. benefits under rehabilitative employment shall be reduced when an employee's total earnings exceed one hundred per cent (100%) of their earnings as at the date of commencement of total disability.
- 39.9 Employees while on rehabilitative employment with the employer will earn vacation credits as set out in Article 45 (Vacations and Vacation Credits).
- 39.10 (a) When an employee who has been receiving or was eligible to receive L.T.I.P. benefits is able to return to full-time employment, the provisions of Article 23 (Job Security), with the exception of section 23.8, shall apply.
  - (b) An employee who is assigned, under this section, to a vacancy in accordance with sub-sections 23.2 of Article 23 shall, for a period of six (6) months, be paid at the same step they had attained in the salary range of the position they occupied prior to disability. At the end of that period they shall be paid at a rate within the salary range of the position to which they have been assigned.

#### ARTICLE 40 - EMPLOYER HEALTH TAX

40.1 The Employer shall pay one hundred per cent (100%) of Employer Tax levied on employee earnings.

#### **ARTICLE 41 - SUPPLEMENTARY HEALTH AND HOSPITAL INSURANCE**

- 41.1 The Employer shall pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the monthly premium of the Supplementary Health and Hospital Plan.
- 41.2 The Supplementary Health and Hospital Plan shall provide for the reimbursement of the cost of prescribed drugs and medicines by means of a prescription drug card with a 35 cent deductible per prescription and a dispensing fee maximum limit of ten dollars (\$10.00) per prescription, one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost of semi-private or private hospital accommodation to a maximum of one hundred dollars (\$100) per day over and above the cost of standard ward care, and one hundred per cent (100%) of the cost for the following services:
  - (a) Charges for accommodation, for employees 65 and over, in a licensed chronic or convalescent hospital up to twenty-five dollars (\$25) per day and limited to one hundred and twenty (120) days per calendar year for semi-private or private accommodation;
  - (b) Charges made by a licensed hospital for out-patient treatment not paid for under a provincial plan;
  - (c) Charges for private-duty nursing in the employee's home, by a registered nurse who is not ordinarily resident in the employee's home, and who is not related to either the employee or their dependents, provided such registered nursing service is approved by a licensed physician or surgeon as being necessary to the employee's health care;
  - (d) Charges for the services of a chiropractor, osteopath, naturopath, podiatrist or chiropodist, physiotherapist, speech therapist, registered massage therapist, psychologist or social worker (if licensed and practising within the scope of their licence), to a maximum of thirty-five dollars (\$35) per visit for each visit not subsidized by O.H.I.P., to a maximum of \$500 per annum per practitioner. Effective April 1, 2017, per-visit maximum increases to fifty dollars (\$50). Effective April 1, 2018, per-visit maximum increases to sixty dollars (\$60);
  - (e) Artificial limbs and eyes, crutches, splints, casts, trusses and braces;
  - (f) Rentals of wheel chairs, hospital beds or iron lungs required for temporary therapeutic use. A wheel chair may be purchased if recommended by the attending physician and if rental cost would exceed the purchase cost;
  - (g) Ambulance services to and from a local hospital qualified to provide treatment, excluding benefits allowed under a provincial hospital plan;
  - (h) Oxygen and its administration;

- (i) Dental services and supplies, provided by a dental surgeon within a period of eighteen (18) months following an accident, for the treatment of accidental injury to natural teeth, including replacement of such teeth or for the setting of a jaw fractured or dislocated in an accident, excluding any benefits payable under any provincial Medicare plan;
- (j) Hearing aids and eyeglasses, if required as a result of accidental injury;
- (k) Charges for services of physicians, surgeons and specialists legally licensed to practise medicine which, when provided outside the Province of Ontario, exceed the O.H.I.P. fee schedule, the allowance under this benefit being up to one hundred per cent (100%) of the O.M.A. fee schedule when added to government payments under the O.H.I.P. fee schedule;
- (I) Charges for surgery by a podiatrist or chiropodist, performed in a podiatrist's or chiropodist's office, to a maximum of one hundred dollars (\$100);
- (m) Coverage for prescription drugs shall be provided on the basis of mandatory generic substitution, except where the physician indicates no substitution on the prescription.
- (n) Non generic drugs will be covered if:
  - There is no generic substitution; or
  - Generic drugs are the same cost, or more expensive; or
  - The employee's doctor stipulates that the generic substitution would not be medically appropriate for the employee or dependent concerned.
- 41.2.
- 41.2.1 The Employer agrees to pay 50% of the monthly premiums of vision care which includes but is not limited to, prescription eye glasses, prescription contact lenses and laser eye surgery and hearing aid coverage under the Supplementary Health and Hospital Plan, with the balance of the monthly premiums being paid by the employee through payroll deduction. This coverage includes a \$10.00 (single) and \$20.00 (family) deductible in any calendar year and provides for vision care (maximum five hundred dollars (\$500) per person in any 24 month period) effective January 1, 2017 and the purchase of hearing aids (maximum \$500 per person every five (5) years for the employee and dependents) as per the employee booklet.
- 41.2.2 The Union agrees that the Employment Insurance rebates of bargaining unit members are to be assigned to the Employer to defray the cost of increases in coverage for semi-private hospital coverage and coverage for services of a chiropractor, osteopath, naturopath, podiatrist or chiropodist, physiotherapist, speech therapist and registered massage therapist.

- 41.3 It is not necessary for an employee or dependents to be confined to hospital to be eligible for benefits under this plan. If an employee is totally disabled or their dependent is confined to hospital on the date their Supplementary Health and Hospital Insurance terminates, benefits shall be payable until the earliest of: the date the total disability ceases, the date their dependent is discharged from hospital, or the expiration of six (6) months from the date of termination of insurance.
- 41.4 Where an employee is totally disabled, coverage for Supplementary Health and Hospital Insurance will cease at the end of the month in which the employee receives their last pay from the Employer, except as provided in section 39.3 of Article 39 (Long Term Income Protection). If an employee wishes to have Supplementary Health and Hospital Insurance continue, arrangements may be made through the Human Resources Office. The employee shall pay the full premium.
- 41.5 The employer will reimburse employees and their eligible dependents for an annual eye examination, performed by a licensed Optometrist or Ophthalmologist in the province of Ontario to a maximum of \$100/12 months.
- 41.6 Employees are eligible for coverage on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee has completed three (3) months of continuous service.

#### **ARTICLE 42 - DENTAL PLAN**

#### BENEFITS

- 42.1 (a) This plan provides for basic dental care and includes such items as examinations, consultations, specific diagnostic procedures, x-rays, preventive services such as scaling, polishing, and fluoride treatments, fillings, extractions, anaesthesia services, periodontal services, endodontic services and surgical services, as well as prosthodontics services necessary for relining, rebasing or repairing of an existing appliance (fixed bridgework, removable partial or complete dentures). Frequency of recall examinations are nine (9) months for adults.
  - (b) (i) Payments under the plan will be in accordance with the current Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees for the subscriber and eligible dependents.
    - (ii) The Employer shall pay the full premiums under this plan on the basis of ninety per cent/ ten per cent (90%/10%) co-insurance. The employee shall pay the cost of dental care directly and the carrier shall reimburse the employee ninety per cent (90%) based on the current Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees.

- (c) The Employer agrees to pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the monthly premium, for services relating to dentures and crowns on the basis of fifty per cent/fifty per cent (50%/50%) co-insurance, in accordance with the current Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees, up to a calendar year maximum benefit of two thousand dollars (\$2,000) for the insured employee and each eligible dependent.
- (d) Except for benefits described under Section 42.2 eligible dependents shall include spouse, unmarried children under twenty-one (21) years of age, unmarried children between twenty-one (21) and twenty (25) years of age in full-time attendance at an educational institution or on vacation there from, and children twenty-one (21) years of age and over, mentally or physically infirm and who are dependent.
- 42.2 The Employer agrees to pay one hundred per cent (100%) of the monthly premium, for services relating to orthodontics, to apply only to dependent unmarried children of the employee between the ages of six (6) and eighteen (18), on the basis of fifty per cent/ fifty per cent (50%/50%) co-insurance, in accordance with the current Ontario Dental Association Schedule of Fees, up to a lifetime maximum benefit of two thousand dollars (\$2,000.00) for each such dependent unmarried child.

#### 42.3 **ELIGIBILITY**

Employees are eligible for coverage on the first day of the month following the month in which the employee has completed three (3) months of continuous service.

#### 42.4 CANCELLATION

All coverage under this plan will cease on the date of termination of employment.

#### **ARTICLE 43 - INSURED BENEFITS PLANS - GENERAL**

#### 43.1 **COMMENCEMENT OF COVERAGE**

Employees will be insured for Basic Life, Supplementary and Dependent Life (when elected), Long Term Income Protection, Dental, and Supplementary Health and Hospital benefits effective the first of the month immediately following three (3) months' continuous service.

## 43.2 COVERAGE DURING LEAVE-OF-ABSENCE WITHOUT PAY

During leaves-of-absence without pay, employees may continue participating in Basic Life, Supplementary Life, Dependent Life, Supplementary Health and Hospital, Long Term Income Protection, and the Dental Plan by arranging to pay full premiums at least one (1) week in advance of the first of each month of coverage through the Human Resources Office.

#### 43.3 **DAYS OF GRACE**

There is a thirty-one (31) day grace period following termination during which the insurance remains in force for Basic, Supplementary and Dependent Life Insurance.

#### ARTICLE 44 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COMMITTEE

44.1 The parties agree to continue the Employee Benefits Committee. The terms of reference are set out in Appendix 2 attached.

#### **ARTICLE 45 - VACATIONS AND VACATION CREDITS**

- 45.1 An employee shall earn vacation credits at the following rates:
  - (a) One and one-quarter (1-1/4) days per month during the first five (5) years of continuous service;
  - (b) One and two-thirds (1-2/3) days per month after five (5) years of continuous service;
  - (c) Two and one-twelfth (2-1/12) days per month after ten (10) years of continuous service:
  - (d) Two and one-half (2-1/2) days per month after twenty (20) years of continuous service.
- 45.2 An employee is entitled to vacation credits under section 45.1 in respect of a month or part thereof in which they are at work or on leave with pay. All new hires between the 1st and 15th of the month shall be credited with a full month credit; all hires between the 16th and 31st of the month shall be credited with a half month credit.
- 45.3 An employee accrues vacation credit under Section 45.1 in respect of a whole month in which the employee is absent from duty, when the employee is absent on:
  - (i) vacation leave of absence;
  - (ii) employer-paid leave-of-absence with pay; or
  - (iii) pregnancy, parental or adoption leave,

but not otherwise. For greater certainty, employees do not accrue vacation credit under Section 45 during absence on Workplace Safety and Insurance Board Compensation, Long Term Income Protection Plan or unpaid employee leave of absence unless listed above or provided in Article 45.2.

When an employee is not accruing vacation credit under Section 45.1, the employee remains entitled to two weeks' vacation per year, with pay amounting to four per cent (4%) of the employee's wages (excluding vacation pay) accrued by the employee during the twelve (12) months for which the vacation is given.

- 45.5 An employee shall be credited with their vacation for a calendar year at the commencement of each calendar year.
- 45.6 Effective January 1, 2018 an employee may accumulate vacation to a maximum of their annual accrual plus three (3) weeks but shall be required to reduce their accumulation to a maximum of three (3) weeks accrual by December 31 of each year.
- 45.7 On commencing employment an employee shall be credited with prorated vacation for the balance of the calendar year, but shall not be permitted to take more vacation than accrued.
- 45.8 An employee with over six (6) months of continuous service may, with the approval of their supervisor, take vacation to the extent of their vacation entitlement and their vacation credits shall be reduced by any such vacation taken. For this purpose, an employee may include any continuous service as a term employee immediately prior to their appointment.
- 45.9 Where an employee has completed twenty-five (25) years of continuous service, there shall be added, on that occasion only, five (5) days of vacation to their accumulated vacation entitlement.
- 45.10 Where an employee leaves the Centre prior to the completion of six (6) months service as computed in accordance with section 45.6, they are entitled to vacation pay at the rate of four per cent (4%) of the salary paid during the period of their employment.
- 45.11 An employee who has completed six (6) or more months of continuous service shall be paid for any earned and unused vacation standing to their credit at the date they cease to be an employee, or at the date they qualify for payments under the Long Term Income Protection plan as defined under Article 39, and any salary paid for unearned vacation used up to that time shall be recovered by the Employer from any monies owing to that employee.

#### ARTICLE 46 - SHORT TERM SICKNESS PLAN

- 46.1 An employee who is unable to attend to their duties due to sickness or injury is entitled to leave-of-absence with pay as follows:
  - (i) with regular salary for the first seven (7) working days of absence, which period of time shall include sickness or injury of their dependent children;

These seven (7) working days shall also be granted to those employees who have reached the age of sixty-five (65).

- (ii) with seventy-five per cent (75%) of regular salary for an additional one hundred and twenty-three (123) working days of absence, in each calendar year;
- (iii) the Employer shall contact an employee who has been on short-term sick leave for a period of ninety (90) days to advise them of their benefit as provided for under Article 39 Long Term Income Protection Plan.
- 46.2 An employee is not entitled to leave-of-absence with pay under section 46.1 of this Article until they have completed twenty (20) consecutive working days of employment.
- 46.3 Where an employee is on a sick leave-of-absence which commences in one calendar year and continues into the following calendar year, they are not entitled to leave-of-absence with pay under section 46.1 of this Article for more than one hundred and thirty (130) working days in the two (2) years until they have returned to work for twenty (20) consecutive working days.
- 46.4 An employee who has used leave-of-absence with pay for one hundred and thirty (130) working days in a calendar year under section 46.1 of this Article must complete twenty (20) consecutive working days before they are entitled to further leave under section 46.1 in the next calendar year.
- 46.5 The pay of an employee under this Article is subject to deductions for insurance coverage and pension contributions that would be made from regular pay. The Employer-paid portion of all payments and subsidies will continue to be made.

#### 46.6 **USE OF ACCUMULATED CREDITS**

An employee on leave-of-absence under sub-section 46.1 (ii) of this Article may, at their option, have one-quarter (1/4) of a day deducted from their accumulated credits (vacation or overtime credits) for each such day of absence and receive regular pay.

- 46.7 Where, for reasons of health, an employee is frequently absent or unable to perform their duties, the Employer may require them to submit to a medical examination.
- 46.8 After five (5) working days' absence caused by sickness, the Chief Executive Officer or their designee may request a medical certificate certifying that the employee is unable to attend to their official duties. Failure to provide such certificate upon the request of the Employer will result in withholding of pay. Notwithstanding this provision, where it is suspected that there may be an abuse of sick leave, the Chief Executive Officer or their designee may require an employee to submit a medical certificate for a period of absence of less than five (5) days.

- 46.9 Any medical certificate requested by the Employer shall be paid for by the Employer.
- 46.10 Employees returning from L.T.I.P. to resume employment in accordance with Article 46.8 must complete twenty (20) consecutive working days of employment to qualify for benefits under the Short Term Sickness Plan.
- 46.11 For the purposes of this Article twenty (20) consecutive working days of employment shall not include vacation leave-of-absence or any leaves without pay, but days worked before and after such leave shall be considered consecutive. Notwithstanding the above, where an employee is unable to attend to their duties due to sickness or injury, the days worked before and after such absence shall not be considered consecutive.

#### 46.12 ATTENDANCE REVIEW MEETINGS

An employee may be interviewed by a member or members of management in respect of the employee's record of attendance at work. If this meeting results in the need to utilize the Accommodation Committee, the employer shall endeavour to convene this meeting within ten (10) working days.

46.13 The Accommodation Committee promotes and encourages the early and safe return of sick and injured employees to their previous position or in suitable work as it becomes available. The Employer and Union will co-operate and facilitate the search for reasonable accommodation and for implementing a modified or rehabilitative work program which enables the employee to perform the essential duties of the job, in accordance with the Human Rights Code and the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*.

#### **ARTICLE 47 - SEVERANCE PAYMENT**

- An employee who has completed a minimum of one (1) year of continuous service and who ceases to be an employee because of layoff under Article 23 is entitled to severance pay for continuous service from and after October 1, 1987 equal to one (1) week of salary for each year of continuous service from and after October 1, 1987.
- 47.2 (1) The total of the amount paid to an employee in respect of severance pay, shall not exceed one-half (1/2) of the annual salary of the employee at the date when they cease to be an employee.
  - (2) The calculation of severance pay of an employee shall be based on the regular salary of the employee at the date when they cease to be an employee.
  - (3) Where a computation for severance pay involves part of a year, the computation of that part shall be made on a monthly basis, and,

- a) any part of a month that is less than fifteen (15) days shall be disregarded; and
- b) any part of a month that is fifteen (15) or more days shall be deemed to be a month.
- 47.3 For purposes of determining qualification for severance pay and the amount of severance pay to which an employee is entitled, an employee's continuous service shall not include any period:
  - (a) when they are on leave-of-absence without pay for greater than thirty (30) days, or for a period which constitutes a hiatus in their service, i.e.:
    - 1) Political Activity,
    - 2) Lay-off (Article 23, Job Security),
    - 3) Educational Leave;
  - (b) when they are receiving benefits under the Long Term Income Protection Plan;
  - (c) after the first six (6) months that they are receiving benefits pursuant to an award under the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act, but this clause shall not apply during a period when the accumulated credits of the employee are being converted and paid to the employee at a rate equal to the difference between the regular salary of the employee and the compensation awarded.
- 47.4 An employee may receive only one (1) severance payment for a given period of continuous service.
- 47.5 Notwithstanding section 47.4, an employee who has been released in accordance with Article 23 (Job Security) and who is subsequently reappointed in accordance with section 24.3 of Article 24 (Seniority) may, at their option, repay any severance payments received under this Article to the employer, and, thereby, restore severance pay entitlements for the period of continuous service represented by the payment.

#### ARTICLE 48 - WORKPLACE SAFETY AND INSURANCE COMPENSATION

- 48.1 Where an employee is absent by reason of an injury or an industrial disease for which a claim is made under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*, their salary shall continue to be paid for a period not exceeding thirty (30) days. If an award is not made, any payments made under the foregoing provisions in excess of that to which they are entitled under sections 46.1 and 46.6 of Article 46 (Short Term Sickness Plan) shall be an amount owing by the employee to the Employer.
- 48.2 Where an employee is absent by reason of an injury or an industrial disease for which an award is made under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*, their salary shall continue to be paid for a period not exceeding three (3) consecutive

months or a total of sixty-five (65) working days where such absences are intermittent, following the date of the first absence because of the injury or industrial disease, and any absence in respect of the injury or industrial disease shall not be charged against their credits.

- 48.3 Where an award is made under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act* to an employee that is less than the regular salary of the employee and the award applies for longer than the period set out in section 48.2 and the employee has accumulated credits, their regular salary may be paid and the difference between the regular salary paid after the period set out in section 48.2 and the compensation awarded shall be converted to its equivalent time and deducted from their accumulated credits.
- Where an employee receives an award under the *Workplace Safety and Insurance Act*, and the award applies for longer than the period set out in section 48.2 (i.e. three (3) months), and the employee has exhausted all attendance credits, the Employer will continue subsidies for Basic Life, L.T.I.P, Supplementary Health and Hospital and the Dental Plan for the period during which the employee is receiving the award.

#### **ARTICLE 49 - ENTITLEMENT ON DEATH**

49.1 Where an employee who has served more than six (6) months dies, there shall be paid to their estate, the sum of their salary for the period of vacation leave-of-absence and overtime credits that have accrued.

#### ARTICLE 50 - PERSONNEL FILE

- An employee shall be entitled to view the entire contents of his or her personnel file arranged by prior request to the Human Resources department.
  - (a) The Employer shall provide an employee with written reasons for any disciplinary action. Any reply by the employee shall become part of the employee's record.
  - (b) Any letter of reprimand, suspension or other sanction shall be removed from the record of an employee twenty-four (24) months following receipt of such letter, suspension or other sanction, provided that the employee's record has been discipline free for twenty-four (24) months. Leaves of absence in excess of ninety (90) consecutive days will not count towards the period recorded as discipline free.

# PART C - TERM OF AGREEMENT

# **ARTICLE 51 - TERM OF AGREEMENT**

51.1	Agreement shall continue year each unless either pa	automatical arty notifies t dance with	m April 1, 2016 until March 3 ly thereafter for annual period the other in writing that it wisl Section 59 of the Labour F	ds of one (1) nes to amend
Signe	d at Toronto this	day of	, 2017.	
_	THE ONTARIO PUBLIC SE OYEES UNION, LOCAL 51	_	FOR SURREY PLACE CEN	ITRE

APPENDIX 1
Effective April 1, 2016 - March 31, 2019
36.25 HOURS/WEEK

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
Grade 9	April 1, 2016	(0%)							
Clinical Nurse Specialist	ANNUAL	77,627	79,244	80,861	84,096	87,460	90,959	94,596	98,380
Psychologist	BIWEEKLY	2,985.66	3,047.86	3,110.06	3,234.45	3,363.84	3,498.40	3,638.33	3,783.85
	WEEKLY	1,492.83	1,523.93	1,555.03	1,617.23	1,681.92	1,749.20	1,819.16	1,891.93
	HOURLY	41.1815	42.0394	42.8973	44.6132	46.3978	48.2539	50.1838	52.1911
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	78,714	80,354	81,993	85,273	88,684	92,232	95,921	99,758
	BIWEEKLY	3,027.46	3,090.53	3,153.60	3,279.74	3,410.93	3,547.39	3,689.26	3,836.83
	WEEKLY	1,513.73	1,545.26	1,576.80	1,639.87	1,705.47	1,773.69	1,844.63	1,918.41
	HOURLY	41.7580	42.6280	43.4979	45.2378	47.0474	48.9295	50.8864	52.9218
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	79,816	81,479	83,141	86,467	89,926	93,523	97,264	101,154
	BIWEEKLY	3,069.84	3,133.80	3,197.75	3,325.66	3,458.69	3,597.05	3,740.91	3,890.55
	WEEKLY	1,534.92	1,566.90	1,598.87	1,662.83	1,729.34	1,798.53	1,870.46	1,945.27
	HOURLY	42.3426	43.2248	44.1069	45.8711	47.7061	49.6145	51.5988	53.6627

**NOTE:** The Psychologist assigned as Professional Practice Leader and as Psychology Internship Coordinator will receive a premium of \$2.50 per hour for all hours worked.

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
Grade 8 A	April 1, 2016	(0%)	•	•	·	<u> </u>	•	•	•
Audiologist	ANNUAL	66,270	67,650	69,031	71,792	74,664	77,651	80,757	83,987
Registered Nurse	BIWEEKLY	2548.84	2,601.94	2655.04	2761.25	2871.70	2986.57	3106.03	3230.26
Social Worker Speech-Language	WEEKLY	1274.42	1,300.97	1327.52	1380.62	1435.85	1493.28	1553.01	1615.13
Pathologist	HOURLY	35.1564	35.8889	36.6213	38.0862	39.6097	41.1940	42.8417	44.5553
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	67,198	68,598	69,998	72,798	75,710	78,738	81,887	85,163
	BIWEEKLY	2584.52	2638.37	2692.21	2799.91	2911.91	3028.38	3149.51	3275.48
	WEEKLY	1292.26	1319.19	1346.11	1399.95	1455.95	1514.19	1574.75	1637.74
	HOURLY	35.6486	36.3913	37.1340	38.6194	40.1642	41.7707	43.4415	45.1791
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	68,138	69,558	70,978	73,817	76,769	79,840	83,034	86,355
	BIWEEKLY	2620.71	2,675.31	2729.91	2839.11	2952.67	3070.77	3193.60	3321.34
	WEEKLY	1310.35	1,337.65	1364.95	1419.55	1476.34	1535.39	1596.80	1660.67
	HOURLY	36.1477	36.9008	37.6539	39.1601	40.7265	42.3555	44.0497	45.8116

# Grade 8

	April 1, 2016	(0%)							
ASD Consultant	ANNUAL	62,622	63,927	65,231	67,841	70,554	73,376	76,311	79,364
Health Care Consultant	BIWEEKLY	2,408.54	2,458.71	2,508.89	2,609.25	2,713.62	2,822.17	2,935.05	3,052.46
Occupational Therapist	WEEKLY	1,204.27	1,229.36	1,254.44	1,304.63	1,356.81	1,411.08	1,467.53	1,526.23
Occupational Therapist, Team Lead	HOURLY	33.2212	33.9133	34.6053	35.9897	37.4293	38.9265	40.4835	42.1028
PEP Therapist									
Sr. Behaviour Therapist	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	63,499	64,822	66,144	68,790	71,542	74,404	77,380	80,475
	BIWEEKLY	2,442.26	2,493.14	2,544.01	2,645.78	2,751.61	2,861.68	2,976.14	3,095.19
	WEEKLY	1,221.13	1,246.57	1,272.00	1,322.89	1,375.81	1,430.84	1,488.07	1,547.59
	HOURLY	33.6863	34.3881	35.0898	36.4936	37.9533	39.4715	41.0503	42.6922
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	64,388	65,729	67,070	69,754	72,544	75,445	78,463	81,601
	BIWEEKLY	2,476.45	2,528.04	2,579.63	2,682.83	2,790.14	2,901.75	3,017.81	3,138.52
	WEEKLY	1,238.22	1,264.02	1,289.81	1,341.41	1,395.07	1,450.87	1,508.91	1,569.26
	HOURLY	34.1579	34.8695	35.5811	37.0045	38.4846	40.0241	41.6250	43.2899

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
Grade 7	April 1, 2016	(0%)							
Application Assessor	ANNUAL	55,418	56,572	57,727	60,036	62,437	64,935	67,532	70,234
Application Assessor, Team Lead	BIWEEKLY	2131.45	2,175.86	2220.26	2309.07	2401.44	2497.50	2597.40	2701.30
Developmental Therapist	WEEKLY	1065.73	1,087.93	1110.13	1154.54	1200.72	1248.75	1298.70	1350.65
Early Childhood Vision Consultant	HOURLY	29.3994	30.0118	30.6243	31.8493	33.1233	34.4483	35.8262	37.2594
IT Systems Coordinator									
Network Administrator	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)							
Psychometrist	ANNUAL	56,194	57,364	58,535	60,876	63,312	65,844	68,478	71,217
Research Associate	BIWEEKLY	2161.30	2206.32	2251.35	2341.40	2435.06	2532.47	2633.76	2739.12
Service Coordinator	WEEKLY	1080.65	1103.16	1125.67	1170.70	1217.53	1266.23	1316.88	1369.56
Service Coordinator-Intake	HOURLY	29.8110	30.4320	31.0530	32.2952	33.5870	34.9306	36.3278	37.7810
Service Navigator									
Therapist	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)							
	ANNUAL	56,980	58,167	59,354	61,729	64,198	66,766	69,437	72,214
	BIWEEKLY	2191.56	2,237.21	2282.86	2374.18	2469.15	2567.92	2670.64	2777.47
	WEEKLY	1095.78	1,118.60	1141.43	1187.09	1234.57	1283.96	1335.32	1388.74
	HOURLY	30.2284	30.8580	31.4877	32.7473	34.0572	35.4196	36.8364	38.3099

**NOTE:** The Application Assessor assigned as Team Lead will receive a premium of \$2.50 per hour for all hours worked.

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7	Step 8
Grade 6	April 1, 2016	(0%)							
ABA Therapist Communicative Disorders	ANNUAL	49,480	50,511	51,542	53,604	55,748	57,978	60,297	62,708
Asst.	BIWEEKLY	1,903.10	1,942.74	1,982.38	2,061.68	2,144.14	2,229.91	2,319.10	2,411.86
Data Analyst	WEEKLY	951.55	971.37	991.19	1,030.84	1,072.07	1,114.96	1,159.55	1,205.93
Early Childhood Vision	HOURLY	26.2496	26.7964	27.3431	28.4370	29.5743	30.7574	31.9876	33.2671
Consultant Associate									
Family Support Coach	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)							
Graphic Design &	ANNUAL	50,173	51,218	52,263	54,354	56,528	58,789	61,141	63,586
Production Technician	BIWEEKLY	1,929.74	1,969.94	2,010.13	2,090.55	2,174.15	2,261.13	2,351.57	2,445.63
Intake/Parent Trainer	WEEKLY	964.87	984.97	1,005.06	1,045.27	1,087.08	1,130.57	1,175.78	1,222.82
Librarian	HOURLY	26.6171	27.1715	27.7259	28.8351	29.9883	31.1880	32.4354	33.7328
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)			•				
	ANNUAL	50,876	51,935	52,995	55,115	57,319	59,612	61,997	64,477
	BIWEEKLY	1,956.76	1,997.51	2,038.27	2,119.81	2,204.59	2,292.79	2,384.49	2,479.87
	WEEKLY	978.38	998.76	1,019.13	1,059.91	1,102.29	1,146.39	1,192.24	1,239.93
	HOURLY	26.9897	27.5519	28.1141	29.2388	30.4081	31.6246	32.8895	34.2051

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 5	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
	ANNUAL	46,434	47,363	48,292	50,223	52,232	54,321	56,494
Autism Program Assistant	BIWEEKLY	1,785.93	1,821.65	1,857.37	1,931.67	2,008.93	2,089.29	2,172.86
Instructor Therapist	WEEKLY	892.96	910.83	928.69	965.84	1,004.47	1,044.64	1,086.43
Intake Worker	HOURLY	24.6335	25.1262	25.6189	26.6437	27.7094	28.8178	29.9705
IT Application Support								
Research Assistant	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
TPAS DFO Assistant	ANNUAL	47,084	48,026	48,968	50,927	52,963	55,082	57,285
	BIWEEKLY	1,810.93	1,847.15	1,883.37	1,958.71	2,037.06	2,118.54	2,203.28
	WEEKLY	905.47	923.58	941.69	979.36	1,018.53	1,059.27	1,101.64
	HOURLY	24.9784	25.4780	25.9776	27.0167	28.0973	29.2212	30.3901
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	47,743	48,698	49,653	51,639	53,705	55,853	58,087
	BIWEEKLY	1,836.29	1,873.02	1,909.74	1,986.13	2,065.57	2,148.20	2,234.13
	WEEKLY	918.14	936.51	954.87	993.07	1,032.79	1,074.10	1,117.06
	HOURLY	25.3281	25.8347	26.3413	27.3949	28.4907	29.6303	30.8156

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 4	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
Accounting Clerk	ANNUAL	42,213	43,057	43,901	45,658	47,484	49,383	51,359
Accounting Clerk - DFO	BIWEEKLY	1,623.57	1,656.04	1,688.52	1,756.06	1,826.31	1,899.35	1,975.33
TPAS Registration Assistant	WEEKLY	811.79	828.02	844.26	878.03	913.15	949.67	987.67
	HOURLY	22.3941	22.8420	23.2899	24.2215	25.1904	26.1979	27.2459
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	42,804	43,660	44,516	46,297	48,149	50,074	52,078
	BIWEEKLY	1,646.30	1,679.23	1,712.16	1,780.64	1,851.87	1,925.94	2,002.98
	WEEKLY	823.15	839.61	856.08	890.32	925.94	962.97	1,001.49
	HOURLY	22.7076	23.1618	23.6160	24.5606	25.5431	26.5647	27.6273
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	43,403	44,271	45,139	46,945	48,823	50,776	52,807
	BIWEEKLY	1,669.35	1,702.74	1,736.13	1,805.57	1,877.80	1,952.90	2,031.02
	WEEKLY	834.67	851.37	868.07	902.79	938.90	976.45	1,015.51
	HOURLY	23.0255	23.4861	23.9466	24.9044	25.9007	26.9366	28.0141

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 3	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
Booking Clerk	ANNUAL	38,728	39,502	40,277	41,888	43,563	45,306	47,118
Document Imaging Clerk	BIWEEKLY	1,489.52	1,519.31	1,549.10	1,611.07	1,675.51	1,742.54	1,812.23
DSO Support Clerk	WEEKLY	744.76	759.66	774.55	805.54	837.76	871.27	906.12
Health Records Clerk	HOURLY	20.5451	20.9560	21.3669	22.2217	23.1105	24.0350	24.9963
Information Clerk - Access								
& Disclosure	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
Office Assistant	ANNUAL	39,270	40,055	40,840	42,474	44,173	45,940	47,778
Quality Control Clerk	BIWEEKLY	1,510.37	1,540.58	1,570.79	1,633.63	1,698.97	1,766.93	1,837.60
Receptionist/Switchboard	WEEKLY	755.19	770.29	785.39	816.81	849.48	883.47	918.80
Operator	HOURLY	20.8327	21.2494	21.6660	22.5328	23.4340	24.3715	25.3462
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	39,819	40,616	41,412	43,069	44,792	46,583	48,446
	BIWEEKLY	1,531.52	1,562.15	1,592.78	1,656.50	1,722.75	1,791.67	1,863.33
	WEEKLY	765.76	781.07	796.39	828.25	861.38	895.84	931.66
	HOURLY	21.1244	21.5469	21.9693	22.8483	23.7621	24.7127	25.7010

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 2	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
	ANNUAL	35,859	36,576	37,293	38,785	40,337	41,950	43,628
	BIWEEKLY	1,379.18	1,406.77	1,434.36	1,491.71	1,551.42	1,613.46	1,677.98
	WEEKLY	689.59	703.38	717.18	745.86	775.71	806.73	838.99
	HOURLY	19.0232	19.4037	19.7842	20.5753	21.3989	22.2546	23.1446
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	36,361	37,088	37,815	39,327	40,902	42,537	44,238
	BIWEEKLY	1,398.49	1,426.46	1,454.44	1,512.59	1,573.14	1,636.05	1,701.48
	WEEKLY	699.25	713.23	727.22	756.30	786.57	818.02	850.74
	HOURLY	19.2895	19.6754	20.0612	20.8634	21.6985	22.5662	23.4686
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	36,870	37,607	38,345	39,878	41,474	43,133	44,858
	BIWEEKLY	1,418.07	1,446.44	1,474.80	1,533.77	1,595.17	1,658.95	1,725.29
	WEEKLY	709.03	723.22	737.40	766.89	797.58	829.48	862.65
	HOURLY	19.5596	19.9509	20.3421	21.1555	22.0023	22.8821	23.7972

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Grade 1	April 1, 2016	(0%)		
	ANNUAL	39,206	39,990	40,774
	BIWEEKLY	1,507.91	1,538.07	1,568.24
	WEEKLY	753.96	769.04	784.12
	HOURLY	20.7988	21.2148	21.6308
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	39,755	40,550	41,345
	BIWEEKLY	1,529.02	1,559.61	1,590.19
	WEEKLY	764.51	779.80	795.09
	HOURLY	21.0900	21.5118	21.9336
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	40,311	41,117	41,924
	BIWEEKLY	1,550.43	1,581.44	1,612.45
	WEEKLY	775.22	790.72	806.22
	HOURLY	21.3853	21.8130	22.2407

Effective April 1, 2016 - March 31, 2019 40 HOURS/WEEK

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 4	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
	ANNUAL	46,580	47,511	48,443	50,381	52,396	54,492	56,672
	BIWEEKLY	1,791.53	1,827.36	1,863.19	1,937.72	2,015.23	2,095.83	2,179.67
	WEEKLY	895.76	913.68	931.59	968.86	1,007.62	1,047.92	1,089.84
	HOURLY	22.3941	22.8420	23.2899	24.2215	25.1904	26.1979	27.2459
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	47,232	48,177	49,121	51,086	53,130	55,255	57,465
	BIWEEKLY	1,816.61	1,852.94	1,889.28	1,964.85	2,043.45	2,125.17	2,210.19
	WEEKLY	908.30	926.47	944.64	982.42	1,021.72	1,062.59	1,105.09
	HOURLY	22.7076	23.1618	23.6160	24.5606	25.5431	26.5647	27.6273
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	47,893	48,851	49,809	51,801	53,873	56,028	58,269
	BIWEEKLY	1,842.04	1,878.89	1,915.73	1,992.36	2,072.06	2,154.93	2,241.13
	WEEKLY	921.02	939.44	957.86	996.18	1,036.03	1,077.46	1,120.56
	HOURLY	23.0255	23.4861	23.9466	24.9044	25.9007	26.9366	28.0141

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3	Step 4	Step 5	Step 6	Step 7
Grade 3	April 1, 2016	(0%)						
Purchasing Clerk	ANNUAL	42,734	43,588	44,443	46,221	48,070	49,993	51,992
	BIWEEKLY	1,643.61	1,676.48	1,709.35	1,777.74	1,848.84	1,922.80	1,999.71
	WEEKLY	821.81	838.24	854.67	888.87	924.42	961.40	999.85
	HOURLY	20.5451	20.9560	21.3669	22.2217	23.1105	24.0350	24.9963
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	43,332	44,199	45,065	46,868	48,743	50,693	52,720
	BIWEEKLY	1,666.62	1,699.95	1,733.28	1,802.62	1,874.72	1,949.72	2,027.70
	WEEKLY	833.31	849.98	866.64	901.31	937.36	974.86	1,013.85
	HOURLY	20.8327	21.2494	21.6660	22.5328	23.4340	24.3715	25.3462
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)						
	ANNUAL	43,939	44,818	45,696	47,524	49,425	51,402	53,458
	BIWEEKLY	1,689.95	1,723.75	1,757.55	1,827.86	1,900.97	1,977.02	2,056.08
	WEEKLY	844.97	861.88	878.77	913.93	950.48	988.51	1,028.04
	HOURLY	21.1244	21.5469	21.9693	22.8483	23.7621	24.7127	25.7010

**NOTE:** If the Purchasing Clerk position becomes vacated during the term of this collective agreement, the hours of work will become 36.25 hours per week.

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Grade 2	April 1, 2016	(0%)		
Caretaker	ANNUAL	46,289	47,215	48,141
	BIWEEKLY	1,780.37	1,815.97	1,851.57
	WEEKLY	890.18	907.98	925.78
	HOURLY	22.2546	22.6996	23.1446
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	46,938	47,876	48,815
	BIWEEKLY	1,805.29	1,841.39	1,877.49
	WEEKLY	902.65	920.70	938.74
	HOURLY	22.5662	23.0174	23.4686
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	47,595	48,546	49,498
	BIWEEKLY	1,830.57	1,867.17	1,903.77
	WEEKLY	915.29	933.59	951.89
	HOURLY	22.8821	23.3396	23.7972

		Step 1	Step 2	Step 3
Grade 1	April 1, 2016	(0%)		
Cleaner	ANNUAL	43,262	44,127	44,992
	BIWEEKLY	1,663.91	1,697.19	1,730.47
	WEEKLY	831.95	848.59	865.23
	HOURLY	20.7988	21.2148	21.6308
	April 1, 2017	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	43,867	44,745	45,622
	BIWEEKLY	1,687.20	1,720.94	1,754.69
	WEEKLY	843.60	860.47	877.35
	HOURLY	21.0900	21.5118	21.9336
	April 1, 2018	(1.4%)		
	ANNUAL	44,481	45,371	46,261
	BIWEEKLY	1,710.82	1,745.04	1,779.25
	WEEKLY	855.41	872.52	889.63
	HOURLY	21.3853	21.8130	22.2407

Lump sum payment to all employees as follows:

Upon ratification \$1,000 to all employees

One step added to each wage grip between the first two steps; new step equal to mid-point

Wage increases payable to employees on staff on the following dates:

Effective April 1, 2017 - 1.4% all classifications

Effective April 1, 2018 - 1.4% all classifications

#### APPENDIX 2 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS COMMITTEE

# **Duties of Committee**

The parties agree that the Employee Relations Committee of the Employer shall establish a sub-committee containing two (2) representatives of each of the Employer and the Union, known as the Employee Benefits Committee. The duties of the Employee Benefits Committee shall be as follows:

- (a) Upon notification to bargain amendments to the Collective Agreement, meet to prepare material for submission to the Vice President, Human Resources with a view to obtain quotations and/or surveying insurance carriers for the upcoming contract. The Committee shall jointly decide upon the necessity of a market survey which shall be conducted only by the Vice President, Human Resources and/or benefits consultant retained by the Centre;
- (b) To review quotations from insurance carriers with respect to the provision of such benefits; and
- (c) To make recommendations to the Employer and/or negotiating committee as to the identity of the insurance carrier and/or costing of benefits for employees;

The parties further agree that the ultimate choice of an insurance carrier or carriers remains with the Employer.

While the Employee Benefits Committee may make recommendations as to changes in insured benefits or terms of coverage and may solicit quotations for the provision of such services, the parties agree that any alteration in coverage provided shall be subject to negotiations at the time of the renewal of this Agreement.

The Employer shall notify the Employee Benefits Committee when becoming aware of any proposed alterations to the benefit coverage.

#### **APPENDIX 3 – TERM EMPLOYEES AND POSITIONS**

- 1.1 The parties agree that the employment of substitute or relief employees in the case of vacations, illnesses, leaves of absence and secondments of under one (1) year in duration shall not be governed by the terms of this collective agreement.
- 1.2 A term position means a position additional to the employer's established complement, which has a specified start and end date. This position can be full time (36-1/4 or 40 hours/week) or part-time.
- 1.3 If a term position is established and continues to be required on an ongoing basis for a period of not less than eighteen (18) months (1½ years) the term position shall be assimilated into the Employer's established complement within two (2) months of the eighteen month (18) anniversary date of the position. The parties agree that Post Doctorate and research grant funded positions shall be exempt from this provision.
- 1.4 Subject to the provisions of 1.1, a term employee means an employee who occupies a term position or is hired against an employment position which is temporarily vacant.
- 1.5 1.6 to 1.20 apply only to term staff, but are applicable to all term staff from the date of hire.

#### 1.6. **WAGES**

- 1.6.1 The rate of the equivalent position shall apply. If there is no equivalent position, the rate shall be set by the Employer and the Union shall have the right to negotiate the rate during the appropriate salary negotiations.
- 1.6.2 Employees covered by this Section shall be entitled to the same provisions regarding retroactivity of salary revisions as those agreed upon for the salary grade to which they correspond.

## 1.7 **OVERTIME**

One and one-half (1-1/2) times the basic hourly rate shall be paid for authorized hours of work performed:

- (a) in excess of seven and one-quarter (7-1/4) or eight (8) hours per day, as applicable, where employees work a regular thirty-six and one-quarter (36-1/4) or forty (40) hours work week, as applicable, or
- (b) in excess of the scheduled hours for employees who work on a regularly scheduled work day exceeding eight (8) hours, or
- (c) in excess of the employees' regularly scheduled work week, or

(d) in excess of thirty-six and one-quarter (36-1/4) or forty (40) hours per week where employees do not have regularly scheduled work days.

### 1.8 **HOLIDAYS**

A term employee shall receive a holiday with pay in accordance with the provisions of Article 19.4 on each of the days set out in Article 19.1 herein, which falls on a day that is a regularly scheduled work day for the employee provided that the employee works their last scheduled shift before and first scheduled shift following the holiday. Where an employee is required to work on any of these holidays, they shall be paid in accordance with the provisions of Articles 19.4, 19.5, 19.6, 19.7 and 19.8 herein.

## 1.9 VACATION PAY

Four per cent (4%) of gross pay shall be added to the employee's regular pay in lieu of vacation leave with pay.

## 1.10 ATTENDANCE CREDITS AND SICK LEAVE

- 1.10.1 Employees who work thirty-six and one-quarter (36 1/4) or forty (40) hours per week shall earn attendance credits of one and one-quarter (1-1/4) days for each calendar month of full attendance. Attendance credits may be used for protection purposes only in the event that an employee is unable to attend to their official duties by reason of illness or injury.
- 1.10.2 After five (5) days' absence caused by sickness, the Chief Executive Officer or their designee may request a medical certificate certifying that the employee is unable to attend to their official duties. Failure to provide such certificate upon request of the Employer will result in withholding of pay.
- 1.10.3 Notwithstanding sub-section 1.10.2, where it is suspected that there may be an abuse of sick leave, the Chief Executive Officer or their designee may require an employee to submit a medical certificate for a period of absence of less than five (5) days.
- 1.10.4 Any medical certificate requested by the Employer shall be paid for by the Employer.

#### 1.11 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

An employee who is scheduled to work more than twenty-four (24) hours during a week and who would otherwise have been at work shall be allowed up to four (4) days of leave-of-absence with pay in the event of the death of their spouse, mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son, daughter, step-daughter, step-son, brother, sister, ward or guardian. However, in the event of the death of

their sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, grandparent or grandchild, they shall be allowed only one (1) day's leave of absence.

# 1.12 OTHER APPLICABLE ARTICLES

The following Articles shall also apply to Term Employees:

Article 1 - Recognition

Article 2 - Applicability to Part-Time Employees

Article 4 - Check Off of Union Dues

Article 12 - Shift Premium

Article 13 - Rest Periods

Article 16 - On-Call Duty

Article 17 - Meal Allowance

Article 18.1, 18.7 - Health and Safety

Article 20 - Non-Pyramiding of Payments

Article 21 - Kilometric Rates

Article 22 - Time Credits While Travelling

Article 24 - Probationary Period and Seniority (Length of Continuous Service)

Article 26 - Grievance Procedure

Article 27.16 - Jury Duty

Article 30 - Information to New Employees

Article 40 - Employer Health Tax

Article 51 - Term of Agreement

- 1.13 If a term position continues to be required beyond the original stated end date, or is terminated earlier than initially anticipated, the Employer shall provide the term employee with as much notice as possible, but not less than one (1) week's notice of renewal or, in the case of early termination, not less than the amount required by the *Employment Standards Act*.
- 1.14 Subject to the provisions of 1.13, herein, the Employer may terminate the contract at any time and the term employee shall not be entitled to grieve such termination.
- 1.15 In addition to the benefits provided under 1.6 to 1.12, inclusive, herein, a term employee with eighteen (18) months' continuous service or more is entitled to the following benefits:
  - (a) The benefits set out in Articles 37 to 49, inclusive; and
  - (b) Because employees with eighteen (18) months' continuous service or more are entitled to benefits under Article 46, such employees lose their entitlement to accrued but untaken sick leave;
  - (c) The Employer may terminate the contract for operational reasons and may decline to renew or extend the contract upon expiry and such decisions shall not be subject to the provisions of Article 26 (Grievance Procedure). A term employee with eighteen (18) months' service or more, however, may grieve the termination of the contract when such

termination is for other than operational reasons and is not a result of a decision not to renew or extend the contract upon expiry.

- 1.16 Term employees shall not have the right of access to Articles 23.5 (Job Security) and 25 (Closure of Facilities) of this Agreement.
- 1.17 Term employees shall not be members of the Pension Plan unless eligible under the provisions of the *Pension Benefits Act*, 1987.
- 1.18 Where a term position is assimilated into the Employer's complement pursuant to 1.3 above, and where the term employee has eighteen (18) months' or more continuous service with the Employer, the term employee who is occupying the temporary position at the time of conversion shall be converted to the newly-created position and the provisions of Article 6 shall not apply.
- 1.19 Where a temporary position is assimilated into the Employer's career complement pursuant to 1.3 above, and if the temporary employee has less than eighteen (18) months' continuous service with the Employer, the position shall be open for a competition and posted in accordance with the provisions of Article 6.
- 1.20 When hiring for new term positions, employees who have prior experience with the Employer shall be given preference over other external candidates when all other factors, including funding source preference, are relatively equal.
- 1.21 For purposes of determining benefit entitlements under this Appendix, interruptions in service of six (6) months or less shall not be deemed to create a break in continuous service, subject to insurer restrictions.
- 1.22 The parties agree that part-time term employees shall become entitled to benefits in accordance with 1.15 above, after 2555 hours or 2819 hours, as applicable.
- 1.23 Where a permanent vacancy occurs on a clinical team, term employees within that team may apply for the vacancy regardless of the amount of time employed in the term position. Clinical teams, for the purposes of this article, shall include: South 1, South 2, North 1, North 2, North 3, East 1, West 1, West 2, West 3, Kindercampus, Children & Youth, Infancy & Early Childhood, Adult, School Support, ABA Services, Tre-add Schools, Early Childhood (BLV), and DSO-TR.
  - A term employee employed in a position outside of a clinical team may apply for a permanent vacancy in the same job classification within the work area regardless of the time employed in the term position.
- 1.24 In circumstances where an employee has been employed by Surrey Place Centre in a position for a period of more than six (6) months and is the successful applicant to a position in the same job classification, the Employer may reduce or waive the probationary period.

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: SENIORITY/CREDIT ACCUMULATION & USAGE

The parties agree to the following interpretation regarding the accumulation of seniority and the usage of credit for part-time employees:

- 1. Seniority for all part-time employees shall accumulate based on the hours worked.
- 2. A part-time employee's entitlement to benefits (such as health care benefits, sick leave, vacation, etc.) shall be based on the ratio that his/her hours bear to full-time employment in the same position. Part-time employees working fewer than 14 hours per week shall not be entitled to health care benefits but shall be entitled to four (4%) vacation pay
- 3. The accumulation of credits and entitlement to benefits for part-time term employees is governed by the collective agreement.
- 4. All part-time employees, excluding those working fewer than 14 hours per week, shall receive one (1) year of service credits for purposes of determining vacation entitlement, salary progression and severance benefits for every twelve (12) months of service.
- 5. Seniority accrued in part-time service shall be interchangeable with full-time service in accordance with article 24.2.
- 6. A paid time bank shall be credited to each part-time employee on January 1<sup>st</sup> each year based on prorating (in accordance with #2 above) the employee's entitlement to paid time off for sickness (article 46.1) holidays (article 19.1) and vacation (article 45.1) for the upcoming calendar year. The employee will advise the employer of the amount of time to be taken from this bank for payment of any time taken as short-term sick leave, holidays or vacation

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

Signed at Toronto this \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2017.

FOR THE UNION: FOR THE EMPLOYER:

## LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: FLEX TIME-RENEW

#### STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLE:

Employees at Surrey Place Centre have access to flexible working hours.

Service delivery must not suffer because of increased access to flexibility.

## **POLICY:**

Surrey Place Centre endorses flexible working hours for its employees.

The working day is still considered to be 7.25 hours.

The Flexible Work Hours scheduling must take place within a bi-weekly period. All employees must enter each payroll period with a "zero balance" of hours worked and hours off available. In exceptional cases, the Manager may allow the employee an extension of the time period in which the employee may take his/her "flex-time."

Direct client service will be flexible to meet client needs, with supervisor approval.

Each Program is responsible for the administration of its own flexible hours.

Each Program Director has the authority to suspend flexible working hours within the respective Program as required based on program pressures.

This policy is intended to be economically neutral in its effect on Surrey Place's payroll. In other words, staff will ordinarily not be allowed to increase their daily hours of work so as to trigger overtime.

## PROCEDURE:

This policy applies to Surrey Place Centre employees on the condition that the job responsibilities can be completed within a flexible hours schedule.

The standard work hours of Surrey Place Centre is still considered to be 7.25 hours per day (45 minutes unpaid lunch); 36.25 hours per week; 72.50 hours per two week (payroll calculations).

If individuals work longer than five hours in a row following their regular lunch break, they are entitled to a dinner break of one half hour. This time is not considered work time.

Employees may not work longer than 12 hours per day excluding meal breaks (45 minutes for lunch and 30 minutes for dinner).

Aside from general working hours, each division will assign Core Hours, during which its employees are required to work. Program Core Hours must be adhered to by employees working flexible hours. All staff must be available for team meetings and other clinical work as required by the Program Director.

Direct service to clients must be given when Surrey Place Centre is officially open and management coverage is available.

Each Program Director may set Core Working Hours to meet client needs.

Employees who are interested in working Flexible Working Hours must request such a schedule from their Manager in writing, in advance according to Program requirements.

While working Flexible Working Hours, employees are responsible for informing their Manager, in writing, of their work plans, schedules, and any changes thereto.

Managers may deny a Flexible Working Hours schedule request with reasonable justification.

Signed at Toronto this	_ day of	, 2017.
FOR THE UNION:		FOR THE EMPLOYER:

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: PROGRAM CLOSURE

The parties agree to implement the following terms to accommodate program closure between Christmas and New Year's, on a trial basis for the duration of the current collective agreement:

Program closure between Christmas and New Year's shall include the Christmas and Boxing Day holidays and one floating holiday (as per Article 19.1) and potentially New Year's Day.

The employer shall endeavour to provide to Surrey Place Centre employees no less than ninety (90) days' notice of planned program closures.

An employee unable to work due to program closure shall utilize vacation credits, float days, flex time or compensating leave for any days not compensated in accordance with the above or may choose to take time off without pay.

The Job Security provisions of Article 23 shall not apply to program closures as described herein.

This Letter of Understanding shall form part of the Collective Agreement.

Signed at Toronto this day	of, 2017.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE EMPLOYER:

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: SHORT TERM DISABILITY PROGRAM

- 1. The Employer will not propose the referral of an employee to the Short Term Disability Program unless the employee is, for reasons of health, frequently absent or unable to perform his/her duties, within the meaning of Article 46.7.
- 2. If the Employer determines that an employee is, for reasons of health, frequently absent or unable to perform his/her duties, the Employer shall meet within seven (7) days with one or more of the Union members of the Accommodation Committee as well as the Local Union President or his/her designee to review the employee's case, including the extent to which further medical information is required, the nature of proposed accommodations, etc.
- 3. If the employee has cooperated in the Accommodation Committee process, the Employer agrees that it will not invoke paragraph 4 of this letter until at least six (6) weeks from the date of the initial meeting of the Accommodation Committee to review the employee's case.

Notwithstanding the above, where the Accommodation Committee determines that the case is complex and accommodation of the employee would be expedited by review and a preliminary assessment of the case by the Short Term Disability Program, the Employer may submit the file to the Short Term Disability Program prior to expiry of the six (6) week period.

If the employee has not cooperated in the Accommodation Committee process, the Employer may immediately invoke paragraph 4. Participation in this process by the Union or employee shall not be taken as their agreement or admission that the conditions of Article 46.7 have been met.

- 4. Upon completion of the process described in the preceding paragraph, the Employer shall ask the employee to elect whether to have his/her file submitted to the Short Term Disability Program or to submit to a medical examination pursuant to Article 46.7 of the collective agreement.
- 5. The Union agrees that if the employee ops for the Short Term Disability Program, Short Term Disability may continue to request such oral or written information as it currently does with respect to the employee's illness. The parties further agree that the insurance carrier will act reasonably with respect to the frequency of its requests for information.
- 6. The Employer shall not receive the medical information provided by the employee to the insurance carrier including information as to the diagnosis. The parties understand that insurance carrier currently only provides the Employer with information as to whether the employee is capable of returning to work with or without restrictions and with information as to proposed restrictions. The Employer shall be entitled to continue to receive this information.

- 7. When the employee is no longer frequently absent or unable to perform his/her duties by reason of health, within the meaning of Article 46.7, the Employer agrees that the employee's involvement in the Short Term Disability Program shall be terminated.
- 8. Nothing in this letter is intended to diminish or alter the rights or responsibilities of the Accommodation Committee or its members. The Accommodation Committee will continue to review the cases of employees referred to the Short Term Disability Program, as appropriate.

Signed at Toronto this	day of	, 2017.
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE	EMPLOYER:

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The parties agree to discuss, during the term of the current collective agreement, the feasibility of implementing access to benefits programs offered by Surrey Place Centre for employees working beyond the age of sixty-five (65) and for employees who retire from Surrey Place Centre.

Discussion regarding the above will involve two (2) representatives of the employer and two (2) Benefits Committee representatives of the union as a working group. The working group will meet with benefit carrier representatives and/or benefits consultants as deemed necessary to make a recommendation to Surrey Place Centre for consideration and possible negotiation upon renewal of the collective agreement.

The working group shall not have authority to require implementation of any proposed or recommended plan.

Signed at Toronto this	day of	, 2017.	
FOR THE UNION:	FOR THE EMP	PLOYER:	

#### LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: TREADD PROGRAM

The parties agree that employees in the TREADD program will not normally be required to remain on the premises during an unpaid lunch break. In the event that the Employer informs employees that they are required to remain on the premises, the lunch period will be compensated at straight time and on-call payment under Article 16.3 shall not apply.

In order to implement staggered morning breaks during times when clients are present, the parties agree to a trial period of six (6) months to commence within sixty (60) days of ratification on the following basis:

- The hours of work for all staff will be 8:00 am 4:00 pm
- Employees shall not be required by the Employer to take a break within ninety (90) minutes of the start of their shift
- It is understood that circumstances may require deferral of the break to a later time subject to client needs
- The terms of this agreement may be amended by the parties during the trial period as mutually agreed

At the conclusion of the six (6) month trial, the parties will meet to discuss further continuation of the trial for the duration of the collective agreement. Either party may serve notice to the other of discontinuation of the trial at any time after the initial six (6) month trial period.

Signed this da	ay of	, 2017.
FOR THE UNION:		FOR THE EMPLOYER:

## **LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING: LUMP SUM PAYMENT**

For the duration of the Collective Agreement, the following red-circled job incumbents shall receive a lump sum payment equal to the negotiated general wage increase in each year of the contract applied to the individuals' previous year's earnings. In the event that a job incumbent is no longer red-circled, the above payment shall not apply.

The classification titles of the red-circled employees are Office Assistant, TPAS Registration Assistant, Purchasing Clerk, and Cleaner.

Signed this	day of _	, 2017.
FOR THE UNION:		FOR THE EMPLOYER: